
Vale of White Horse District Council 
Council agenda - Wednesday, 10 October 2018 

 Page 1 

Council Agenda 

 
Contact: Steven Corrigan, Democratic Services Manager 
Telephone number 01235 422526 
Email: steven.corrigan@southandvale.gov.uk 
Date: 2 October 2018 
Website: www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
 

 

 

Summons to attend 

a meeting of Council 

 

to be held on Wednesday 10 October 2018 at 7.00 pm  
The Ridgeway, The Beacon, Portway, Wantage, OX12 9BY 
 
 
 
 
 
Margaret Reed 
Head of Legal and Democratic  
 
 

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These 
include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any 
other special requirements (such as access facilities) please contact 
the officer named on this agenda.  Please give as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 

mailto:carole.nicholl@whitehorsedc.gov.uk
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/


Vale of White Horse District Council 
Council agenda - Wednesday, 10 October 2018 

 Page 2 

Agenda 

 

Open to the public including the press 
 
Council's vision  
 

The council’s vision is to take care of your interests across the Vale with enterprise, 
energy and efficiency.   
 

1. Apologies for absence  
   
To record apologies for absence. 
 

2. Minutes  
(Pages 7 - 22)  
  
To adopt and sign as a correct record the Council minutes of the meeting held on 18 July 
2018 - attached.   
 

3. Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest  
   
To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on the 
agenda for this meeting.    
 

4. Urgent business and chairman's announcements  
   
To receive notification of any matters which the chairman determines should be 
considered as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the 
matters urgent, and to receive any announcements from the chairman.   
 

5. Public participation  
   
To receive any questions or statements from members of the public that have registered 
to speak.   
 

6. Petitions  
   
To receive any petitions from the public.   
 

7. Oxfordshire Joint Spatial Plan – Scoping Document  
(Pages 23 - 58)  
  
At the Council meeting held on 14 February 2018, the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal was discussed.  As part of the deal, Oxfordshire’s principal councils were required 
to adopt a Joint Statutory Spatial Plan, also known as the Oxfordshire Joint Spatial Plan.  
Council agreed that: 

“commencement of work to support and deliver the Joint Statutory Spatial Plan is 
subject to Cabinet being satisfied that the conditions set out at Appendix 4 of the 



Vale of White Horse District Council 
Council agenda - Wednesday, 10 October 2018 

 Page 3 

report of the head of partnership and insight to Cabinet on 9 February 2018 have 
been met.” 

 
Appendix 4 required the scope of the Joint Statutory Spatial Plan to be agreed by full 
Council.   
 
The Joint Scrutiny Committee considered the draft scoping document on 20 September 
2018.   
 
Cabinet considered the draft scoping document at its meeting on 28 September 2018 
and made a series of suggested changes.  These are set out in the addendum attached 
to this agenda. Cabinet authorised the head of planning, in agreement with the other 
Oxfordshire councils’ equivalent, to make any necessary minor and presentational 
changes to the draft Joint Statutory Spatial Plan’s Scoping Document before publication. 
 

A copy of the report considered by Cabinet is attached. 
 
Recommendation: to approve the Oxfordshire Joint Spatial Plan’s scoping document 
(as set out in Appendix 3 to the head of planning’s report to Cabinet on 28 September 
2018).   
 

8. Making the Radley Neighbourhood Development Plan  
(Pages 59 - 62)  
  
Cabinet, at its meeting 5 October 2018, will consider the head of planning’s report on the 
Radley Neighbourhood Development Plan. The report of the head of planning, which 
Cabinet will consider on 5 October, is attached.   
 
The recommendations of Cabinet will be circulated to all councillors. 
 

9. Treasury management outturn 2017/18  
(Pages 63 - 84)  
  
Cabinet, at its meeting on 5 October 2018, will consider the head of finance’s report on 
the outturn performance of the treasury management function for the financial year 
2017/18. 
 
The report of the head of finance, which Cabinet will consider on 5 October 2018, is 
attached. The Joint Audit and Governance Committee considered the report at its 
meeting on 27 September 2018 and made no recommendations to Cabinet.  
 
The recommendations of Cabinet will be circulated to all councillors. 
 

10. Community Governance Review  
(Pages 85 - 107)  
  
At its meeting on 8 October the Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee 
will make final decisions in respect of its community governance reviews of the boundary 
between Great Coxwell and Great Faringdon parishes and the boundary between 
Abingdon-on-Thames, Radley, St Helen Without and Sunningwell parishes. 
 



Vale of White Horse District Council 
Council agenda - Wednesday, 10 October 2018 

 Page 4 

If the committee agrees to amend the boundaries, in accordance with its draft proposals, 
it will also recommend Council authorises the head of legal and democratic to request 
the Local Government Boundary Commission for England to make related alteration 
orders to make district wards and county divisions coterminous with the change to ensure 
effective and convenient representation of local residents. 
 
A copy of the reports which the committee will consider are attached. Any 
recommendations will be circulated to all councillors prior to the Council meeting. 
 

11. Election fees and charges 2019  
(Pages 108 - 114)  
  
To consider the report of the returning officer on the setting of fees and charges for the 
2019 district and parish elections (attached).   
 

12. Report of the leader of the council  
   
(1) Urgent cabinet decisions  
 

In accordance with the scrutiny procedure rules, a Cabinet decision can be taken 
as a matter of urgency, if any delay by the call-in process would seriously 
prejudice the council’s or the public’s interest.  Treating the decision as a matter of 
urgency must be agreed by the chairman of the Scrutiny Committee and must be 
reported to the next meeting of the council, together with the reasons for urgency. 
 
To receive any details of urgent Cabinet decisions taken since the last ordinary 
meeting of the Council, (if any). 

 
(2) Delegation of Cabinet functions 

 
To receive details of any changes to the leader’s scheme of delegation.   
 

(3) Matters affecting the authority arising from meetings of joint committees, 
partnerships and other meetings 

 
To receive the report of the leader (if any).   

 

13. Questions on notice  
   
To receive questions from councillors in accordance with Council procedure rule 33.  
 
A. Councillor Judy Roberts to Councillor Roger Cox, Leader of the council  

The chairman of the Local Government Association's Brexit Taskforce has said "the UKs 

exit from the European Union will have a significant impact on local government. Brexit 

will ultimately be judged on the success of failure by local areas; real people in real 

communities. Councils are taking a lead on preparations for Brexit because our residents 

and our local businesses expect us to be ready." What has Vale of White Horse District 

Council done in terms of an analyses of the potential impact on local business, 

employment and the services we deliver? And what mitigation is being put in place to 

protect Vale residents, housing provision and our Enterprise Zones?          



Vale of White Horse District Council 
Council agenda - Wednesday, 10 October 2018 

 Page 5 

 
B. Councillor Helen Pighills to Councillor Mike Murray Cabinet member for 

Development and Regeneration  

A year has now passed since, the then Leader, Councillor Barber formally announced 
plans to turn Old Abbey House in Abingdon into council owned social housing. Please 
can the Cabinet member update us on this development and when residents can expect 
a planning application to be submitted for consultation?  

C. Councillor Catherine Webber to Councillor Roger Cox, Leader of the council  

In the leader’s press statement responding to the announcement that the Expressway 
will be using a route through Corridor B, the leader stated that “we” support the 
“principles” of the Expressway but mentioned concerns about any route going west of 
Oxford.   

i Can the leader please explain what exactly are those principles he supports? 

ii But why is the leader not fighting to protect other Vale residents in harm’s way, 

communities and environment to the east of Oxford such as Sunningwell, Radley, 

Marcham, Shippon, Wootton, and Abingdon? 

D. Councillor Emily Smith to Councillor Roger Cox, Leader of the council  

Given there has not been any public consultation on the Oxford to Cambridge 
Expressway, and none is expected for another year, Councillor Cox’s position on the 
Highways England Stakeholder group will be a vitally important opportunity to ensure 
Highways England understand the views of Vale residents and potential impacts of 
routes through communities in corridor B.  
However, full Council has not yet debated a position on the Expressway or canvassed 
the opinions of members, parish councils and residents about the significant 
environmental and social impacts on Vale communities.  
How is the leader planning to collect and understand the views and concerns of local 
members and parish councils to ensure he and the Cabinet are fully appraised of the 
impact of each route before representing us at the first Highways England stakeholder 
meeting in November?  

E. Councillor Bob Johnston to Councillor Roger Cox, Cabinet member for 

Planning?  

In December 2014 Council passed a motion as follows "Council believes the present 
system of s106 negotiations leaves much to be desired, and that the council should 
continue to revise the process to produce a system which is more open, more 
transparent and includes input from parish and town councils". What decisions and 
actions have been taken since then to create a more open and transparent system and 
to include town and parish councils in the s106 process? 
    
F. Councillor Emily Smith to Councillor Alice Badcock, Cabinet Member for 

Community Services   

The Vale’s Local Leisure Facilities Strategy published in 2016 was submitted as one of 
our detailed policies for Local Plan Part 2. Page 29 and 38 highlight the replacement of 
the Louie Memorial Pavilion and the 4th Oxford Scout Hut in North Hinksey as High 
priority for funding during this financial year (2018/19). But, as we learned at the last full 
council meeting the Botley service centre area has not received any funding from the 
Vale for leisure for the last 4 years, nor is any planned.  



Vale of White Horse District Council 
Council agenda - Wednesday, 10 October 2018 

 Page 6 

What is the Cabinet member doing to ensure that this High priority project happens? 

G. Councillor Debby Hallett to Councillor Roger Cox, Leader of the council  

The Vale of White Horse Residents’ Survey 2018 highlighted “large increases in negative 
attitudes in terms of the council needing to be more open and honest”. What does he 
think are the top reasons for these results, and what is Cabinet planning to do to rectify 
this perception? 
 

14. Motions on notice  
   
To consider motions from councillors in accordance with Council procedure rule 38.   
 
Motion to be proposed by Councillor Debby Hallett, seconder to be notified:  
 
Council notes that Vale of White Horse is an area of exceptionally high property values 
relative to the rest of England. 
Council notes that the statutory definition of ‘Affordable Housing’, whether to buy or to 
rent, is related directly to these property values (currently 80% of market value).  

Council notes the study brought to Vale Scrutiny Committee in February 2018 by the 
then interim head of housing and economic development, which shed further light on the 
nature of affordability in Vale of White Horse.  

- This study looked at house prices and rents in quartiles and determined that to 
buy a lower quartile property, costing £255,000 in Vale, an income of £57,000 is 
needed, which is an upper quartile income. So only the highest income levels can 
afford to buy the lowest priced properties in our district.  

- Over recent years, growth in local incomes has not kept pace with growth in house 
prices or rents, so the so-called ‘affordable’ housing is not affordable to too many 
households and individuals. 

Therefore, Council asks Councillor Roger Cox, Leader of the council, to write to 
James Brokenshire, Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
setting out the council’s concern. Council urges the Secretary of State to give 
consideration to the definition of affordable housing, taking into account the impact very 
high property values have on the current definition. Council urges him to consider a 
national debate on affordability and the implementation of a regional based definition of 
‘affordable housing’, using a maximum price model for affordable housing within an area 
based on local incomes and circumstances, rather than the market value of the house. 

 
 

 
 



 

Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.1 

Minutes 

of a meeting of the 

Council 

 

held on Wednesday 18 July 2018 at 7.00 pm 
at The Ridgeway, The Beacon, Portway, Wantage, OX12 9BY  
 
 

Open to the public, including the press 
 
Present:  
 
Members: Councillors Monica Lovatt (Chairman), Ben Mabbett (Vice-Chairman), 
Alice Badcock, Mike Badcock, Eric Batts, Ed Blagrove, Yvonne Constance, Roger Cox, 
Stuart Davenport, Katie Finch, Debby Hallett, Robert Hall, Jenny Hannaby, 
Anthony Hayward, Dudley Hoddinott, Simon Howell, Vicky Jenkins, Mohinder Kainth, 
Sandy Lovatt, Chris McCarthy, Mike Murray, Chris Palmer, Helen Pighills, Julia Reynolds, 
Judy Roberts, Robert Sharp, Emily Smith, Henry Spencer, Reg Waite, Elaine Ware and 
Catherine Webber 
 

Officers: Steven Corrigan, Margaret Reed and Mark Stone 
 
 

Number of members of the public: 7 

 

 
 

Co.13 Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Matthew Barber, 
Margaret Crick, Charlotte Dickson, St.John Dickson, Gervase Duffield, Bob Johnston 
and Janet Shelley. 
 

Co.14 Minutes  
 
RESOLVED: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 16 May 2018 as a correct 
record and agree that the chairman sign them as such. 
 

Co.15 Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest  
 
None. 
 

Co.16 Urgent business and chairman's announcements  
 
The chairman provided housekeeping information. 
 
 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.2 

Co.17 Public participation  
 
 

A. Dr Jim Halliday asked the following question to the Leader of the council, 
Councillor Roger Cox 

 
"I know that the Council has been working with the County Council and BT Open 
Reach to extend the superfast broadband coverage in the Vale, and that just over 96 
percent of the Vale can now access speeds of over 24 Megabits per second. 
However, this coverage has yet to reach parts of central Abingdon - residents and 
businesses in Stert Street, Abbey Close, Bridge Street, High Street, Thames Street, 
Checker Walk, East St Helen Street and the Market Place who have the mis-fortune to 
be connected to BT cabinets 14 and 54 remain on the slow speed. Given that for 
some of these premises BT Open Reach is the only possible provider of super-fast 
broadband, and that currently no conversion dates even seem to be available, please 
could the Leader ask the Chief Executive to press BT Open Reach to provide a firm 
date when cabinets 14 and 54 will be upgraded, and then to monitor their progress on 
a regular basis?" 
 
Councillor Cox responded as follows:  

“Better Broadband for Oxfordshire is a project to bring superfast broadband to over 96 
per cent of homes and businesses in Oxfordshire. It is a collaboration between 
Oxfordshire County Council, BDUK and BT that will fill coverage gaps not served 
commercially.  The first phase was a £25 million investment funded by Oxfordshire 
County Council, the government and BT. The second phase saw investment of £10.68 
million made up of funding from the district councils, Oxfordshire County Council, BT, 
OxLEP, SEMLEP and government match funding.  This included a contribution of 
£250,000 from Vale Council which was matched by government. 

The two cabinets in question are not part of the Better Broadband for Oxfordshire 
intervention area as they are served commercially. An Open Market Review exercise 
was undertaken in 2017 where commercial suppliers advised that they are 
covering/have plans for specific cabinets. 

The council has been advised that Openreach has stated they are ‘unlikely’ to deliver 
any further Fibre to the Cabinet (FTTC) commercially whilst they focus on delivery of 
Fibre to the Premise (FTTP).  The council understands Virgin Media has partial 
coverage in the postcodes served by Abingdon cabinets 14 and 54, but the coverage 
is not complete. Through the Better Broadband for Oxfordshire project board, the 
council will continue to press Openreach to expedite the delivery of FTTP for these 
areas which will deliver much higher speeds. 

A possible solution is to access the government's £67 million Gigabit Broadband 
Voucher Scheme. Gigabit vouchers can be used by small and medium sized 
businesses and neighbouring residents to contribute to the installation cost of Full 
Fibre Broadband. For example a number of businesses and resident near cabinets 14 
and 54 could form a group project to deliver the connection.   Businesses can claim up 
to £3,000 against the cost of connection either individually or as part of a group 
project. Residents can benefit from the scheme as part of a group project, which also 
includes businesses, and can claim for a voucher of up to a value of £500. The Better 
Broadband for Oxfordshire team is happy to discuss this scheme with local residents 
and businesses”. 

 

Page 8



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.3 

 

 

B. Mr Mayhew-Archer asked the following question to the Leader of the council, 
Councillor Roger Cox: 

 

“Two years ago we were told the Five Councils Partnership would result in a saving for 
 the council of £9m over nine years. A million pounds a year.  
 
Nine days ago the chief executive told the Scrutiny Committee that the savings won't 
be a million pounds a year. In fact there won’t be any savings at all. In fact his 
assessment of the venture was “Break even at best”. "Break even at best”. That 
sounds worrying to me. Does it worry any councillors? if it does could you ask to be 
put on the Scrutiny Committee in place of some of the councillors on the committee. 
 
I say this because many members of the current Scrutiny Committee didn’t seem 
bothered at all that this 5 councils partnership contract might end up costing the 
council money. Having read the report of Capita’s performance in HR, payroll and IT 
I’m hard-pressed to understand how any member of the committee could declare 
there is no problem with outsourcing but one did. I’m also hard pressed to understand 
how any member of the committee could read the reports and say “people don’t mind 
paying more if they are getting a better service” but one did. 
 
But then this was a pretty odd Scrutiny Committee. Two of the members were 
members of the cabinet which took the council into the 5 Councils’ partnership so they 
were effectively scrutinising the consequences of their own decision. That doesn’t 
sound like proper scrutiny to me. 
 
What worries me is that this council seems unable to admit when it has made a 
mistake. Instead it starts invoking legal reasons for exempting minutes and packing 
committees with people who aren’t going to ask awkward questions. And the problem 
with councils that don’t admit to mistakes is that they don’t learn from those mistakes. 
 
So my question is Councillor Cox is do you agree with your chief executive's 
assessment of "Break even at best" and if so what do you think went wrong?” 
 
Councillor Cox undertook to respond to this issue in his leader’s report. 
 

C. Mr Crawford asked the following question to the Leader of the council, 
Councillor Roger Cox 

 

Could the leader of the council please provide me with details of the deficit or surplus 
The Beacon has generated, expressed both as absolute values and as percentages of 
the council tax generated by households within Wantage parish for each of the last 
municipal years? 
 
In addition, would he provide me with any documents the council has generated or 
commissioned which assess the possible financial impact on The Beacon of the two 
new large community buildings which Vale of White Horse District Council has 
decided should be built at Grove Airfield and Crab Hill through section 106 
agreements with developers? 
 
Councillor Cox undertook to provide a written response. 
 
 

Page 9



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.4 

 

Co.18 Petitions  
 
None. 
 

Co.19 Creation of S106 budget - Chilton Parish Council  
 
On 10 July 2018 Councillor Roger Cox, Cabinet member for planning policy, took a 
decision to recommend Council to create a budget for £286,377.59 and to transfer the 
money to Chilton Parish Council for the maintenance of public open space. 
 
RESOLVED: to 
 
1. approve the application for the commuted sum for maintaining the public open 

space land; 
 

2. create a budget for £286,377.59 to be transferred to Chilton Parish Council for 
the maintenance of the Public Open Space in connection with the following 
planning permission:  

 
           Development: Land to the South of Chilton Field  

Address: Avon Road Chilton 
Planning Ref: P05/V1086/O 

 

Co.20 Community Governance Review - related alteration orders  
 
At its meeting on 27 November 2017 the Community Governance and Electoral Issues 
Committee made final decisions on a number of community governance reviews.  Two 
of these reviews in respect of Grove and Wantage and Grove, Lockinge and Wantage 
involved amendments to parish boundaries.     
 
These changes impact on district ward and county division boundaries.  To make 
district ward and county divisions coterminous with these parish changes Council was 
invited to authorise the head of legal and democratic to request the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England to make related alteration orders to alter both the 
district wards and county division boundaries. 

 
RESOLVED: to authorise the head of legal and democratic to request the Local 
Government Boundary Commission for England to make related alteration orders to 
change district wards and county divisions to reflect the changes made to parish 
boundaries. 
 

Co.21 Report of the leader of the council  
 
Councillor Roger Cox, Leader of the council, provided the following update:  
 

“The chief executive has continued to keep me appraised of the developing position in 
relation to the ‘5 Councils’ Contract.  As all members will be aware, we recently 
approved a renegotiation of the contract and I am pleased to say that the insourcing of 
services from VINCI and the establishment of a direct relationship with Indigo for our 
Parking Service delivery has gone exceptionally well.  Whilst we all too often take it for 
granted, I would like to pay tribute to the staff involved in this process, they have 
actioned our decision quickly, with a strong focus on residents and have done so 
without fuss or drama. 

Page 10



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.5 

 
In relation to the elements of the contract that remain with Capita, our officers continue 
to work in a positive manner with Capita to reshape the services they provide.  I am 
pleased that Capita have committed to work with us to achieve this and that they 
support the benefits of the positive and truthful approach our officers have taken as 
confirmed via their recent email to our Scrutiny Committee, which I have asked to be 
copied to all members.   
 
Financially, I am advised that our ‘best case’ scenario under a full cost model of 
assessment is that the contract, over its life time, will ‘break even at best’.  I have held 
many meetings with officers regarding this matter, as I am aware it is a significant shift 
from the savings that members were originally advised of.   
 
I am content that the chief executive and his team have not only secured the best 
possible renegotiation of the contract, but that the straightforward and pragmatic 
approach that they have taken has increased transparency and member 
understanding of the contract considerably.  This work is ongoing and I am sure all 
councillors would agree that we should offer our support to the officers involved in 
this.  I would be happy to meet with any councillor, the chief executive and our section 
151 officer to expand on this area, which remains commercially sensitive at this time. 
 
I have specifically sought out assurance from the chief executive and our section 151 
officer regarding the original decision making process and the information that was 
made available to members, staff and residents at that time.  Based on this, I am 
satisfied that the original decisions taken by members were appropriate based on the 
information made available to them at that time.  I think all councillors will agree that 
we are fortunate that our current officers are realists and have committed themselves 
to resolving the challenges we face and that we are better informed regarding the 
detail of the 5Cs contract now than at any other time.  However, based on the 
information that was available to us at the time, I do not believe members made a 
decision that was illogical, inappropriate or unreasonable.  Furthermore, I believe that 
is the view of our chief executive.  If required, I am sure he would confirm that to you 
all tonight. 
 
My belief in the knowledge and ability of our current officers is supported by the fact 
that all the councils involved in the 5Cs contract sought agreement that our chief 
executive should lead the most recent renegotiation, something he undertook in 
addition to his demanding day job.  This renegotiation, approved by full Council, has 
provided the platform we are now seeking to further enhance.  I have asked that a 
paper on the outcome of our current discussions with Capita is brought forward to full 
Council as soon as practicable. I have specifically requested that this focuses 
specifically on the issues that impact Vale of White Horse, rather than other partners 
to the contract, who may be impacted differently.  
 
I am clear and fully supportive of the view that our officers’ primary duty is to our 
council, but I have asked that they deliver our requirements in a way that is as 
inclusive and mindful of the needs and views of our partner councils as they are able 
to.  I am content this is the case and have asked that you are all appraised of this as 
soon as possible. 
 
Whilst not directly related to the 5Councils contract renegotiation issues I mentioned 
earlier, I wish to inform full Council that our external auditors have confirmed that their 
audit of our accounts will not be completed in line with the statutory deadline, which as 
members may be aware is two months earlier than in previous years. I am very 
disappointed by this, but I am assured by the chief executive and our section 151 

Page 11



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.6 

officer that they are not aware of any issues of financial concern or fraud relating to 
this decision by our external auditors.  Regrettably, it appears that EY believe that 
Capita, who provide our accountancy service and our officers have failed to provide 
our auditors with all the information and detail they require in a timely enough fashion.  
This has been made clear by our officers at the recent Joint Audit and Governance 
Committee.  I, along with the Cabinet member for finance and our Joint Audit and 
Governance co-Chair have been explicit with the chief executive that we are seeking a 
full explanation of the reasons for this issue and a meeting is already scheduled with 
our external auditors EY, to achieve this.  I would wish to emphasise that I respect and 
welcome the role of our external auditors and support the work they and our chief 
executive and section 151 officer are undertaking to address this issue, but it must not 
be repeated and we all need to be appraised of the reasons for the delay we have 
experienced. 
 
Another aspect of our external auditor’s role is to assess our Value For Money in the 
use of public funds.  This area was not fully supported by our auditors last year, due 
predominately to capacity and knowledge issues across our senior structure.  It is 
possible that the difference between our initially hoped for 5Cs savings and the current 
position may lead to a further qualification of our Value For Money assessment this 
year.  However, I remain hopeful that the open and honest approach our officers are 
taking to addressing this issue, and its limited impact on our long term financial 
planning, will mean that this is not the case.  That said, the delay in the completion of 
the audit work by EY means I cannot be sure of this at this time. 
 
I, and my Cabinet, are of the view that officers are doing all they can to make progress 
across this complex and challenging agenda.  I would ask that all members support 
them in this and that you accept my assurance that as soon as I am able, I will ask the 
chief executive to bring a paper to full council that expands and clarifies the above.” 
 
He advised Council of changes to his Leader’s scheme to provide for Councillor Ware 
to represent the council on the following: 
 
Safer Oxfordshire Partnership Oversight Committee 
South and Vale Community Safety Partnership  
 

Co.22 Questions on notice  
 
There were 13 questions from members of the Council under Council Procedure Rule 
33.  

 
A. Councillor Julia Reynolds to Councillor Mike Murray, Cabinet member for 

Development and Regeneration 

 
What is the council doing to mark the centenary of the end of the First World War? 
 
Answer 
Councillor Murray responded that the council is planning a schedule of opportunities to 
mark the centenary of the end of the First World War. As part of the refurbishment of 
Wantage Bandstand the Vale is working with Wantage Town Council to install a 
commemorative plaque.  The council is also reviewing other works and activities 
reaching important milestones this year and investigating ways in which they can also 
feature in the commemorations.  

Page 12



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.7 

The Chairman of the council is also working with officers to identify other activities that 
can be undertaken by the council and its staff to recognise the sacrifices made by so 
many across the globe during this and other conflicts including the Korean War and  
The Falklands conflict. 

B. Councillor Emily Smith to Councillor Mike Murray, Cabinet member for 
Development and Regeneration 
 
I was shocked to learn that this council has £10million in developer contributions to 
pay for affordable housing sitting in the bank unspent. With these funds needing to be 
spent by various dates before having to be returned to developers, where can I find 
the council’s strategy for delivering these desperately needed affordable homes?  
 
Answer 
Councillor Murray responded that since 2005, the council has secured agreement of 
£9.6 million of funding towards affordable housing provision, the largest proportion 
recently being from the West Way development in Botley where the council secured 
£6.3 million, however this funding is released in line with triggers set out in planning 
obligation agreements (s.106 Agreements) during the life of the development as (for 
example) tranches of housing is completed and occupied. 
  
Accordingly, to date, the council has received just over £2 million affordable housing 
contributions. He stated that whilst Councillor Smith is correct that there is a time limit 
for investment of this money, none of the money received so far has an expenditure 
deadline of before 2022. 
 
The affordable housing team monitors receipt of funds and all expiry dates to ensure 
we spend this funding in a timely and appropriate way.  The S106 schedule identifies 
the contributions.  
 
The council’s housing delivery strategy outlines the way in which the council can 
deliver the new-build housing numbers to meet the needs of communities across the 
area, whether that is for affordable housing for first time buyers, housing suitable for 
those who are retired, or accommodation that supports those with mobility issues or to 
help attract people to live and work in our key employment sites. 
 
The council is developing an Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document 
to provide clarity on the delivery of affordable housing requirements that will meet 
housing need in line with the council' local plan policies. 
 
Contributions need to be spent and invested wisely, and in terms with the original 
Section 106 if they are to have an impact.  Officers are therefore actively exploring the 
synergy between these funds and the Oxfordshire Growth Deal, to ensure that 
maximum benefit for residents is delivered.  The council is not in a position where it 
will return any of this funding, but is committed to ensuring it delivers the very best 
long-term outcomes for residents. 
 
Supplementary question 
In response to a supplementary question regarding the existence of a housing 
development strategy, Councillor Murray confirmed the development of a 
supplementary planning document.    
 
 
 
 

Page 13



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.8 

C. Councillor Catherine Webber to Councillor Roger Cox, Cabinet member for 
Planning 
 
How much section 106 funding has the Vale had to return to developers since 2011 
because it wasn’t spent on time – as both a £ figure and a percentage? How many 
s106 payments from developers are currently overdue?  
 
 Answer: 
Councillor Cox responded that the council has returned no S106 funding to developers 
since 2011 for which he congratulated officers on behalf of Council. 
 
He confirmed that Vale of White Horse currently has one overdue receipt due to the 
council. Appropriate action would be taken to recover this which amounted to less 
than £200,000. 
 
Supplementary question 
In response to a supplementary question Councillor Cox confirmed that no S106 
payments had been lost and appropriate action is being taken to ensure payment. 
 

D. Councillor Debby Hallett to Councillor Roger Cox, Cabinet member for Planning 
 
The last Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) internal audit in August 2017 stated a 
CIL spending strategy had been completed and was awaiting councillor approval. As 
that that function is being transferred from Planning to Development and 
Regeneration, my question is for the Cabinet member for Planning as the responsible 
Cabinet member for the past several years. What's the status of the CIL spending 
strategy now? 
 
Answer: 
Councillor Cox responded that the council completed a Joint CIL internal audit in 
August 2017, with South Oxfordshire District Council. The reference to the CIL 
Spending Strategy quoted was in fact South Oxfordshire’s Spending Strategy. Vale 
implemented it’s CIL Charging Scheme in November 2017 and is currently (through 
the Development & Regeneration Service) in the process of drafting a specific Vale of 
White Horse CIL Spending Strategy.  He stated that he is pleased with the progress 
being made and confident that it will be brought before members by December. 
 
Supplementary question 
In response to a supplementary question regarding the timing of a report to the 
Scrutiny Committee, Councillor Cox confirmed that this would be in December. 
 

E. Councillor Emily Smith to Councillor Roger Cox, Cabinet member for Planning 
 
The Vale currently has 194 individuals and groups on our ‘Self-build register’. How 
many self-build properties have been delivered on plots in the Vale since April 2016 
when the register was created?  
And how confident is the Cabinet Member for Planning that we will be able make 
enough self-build or custom-build plots available to meet the demand by 31 October 
2019 as per the 2016 Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations, and what is 
the basis for that confidence? 
 
Answer 
Councillor Cox responded that he supported the view of the chief executive and 
officers and is confident that the council is complying with the Regulations.  These 
require the council to have granted sufficient planning permission to meet the 

Page 14



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.9 

identified need of 72 self and customer build dwellings by October 2019.  Since 
monitoring self and customer built dwellings, the council has granted planning 
permission for nine dwellings.  However, he believed that in reviewing completions for 
single dwellings between April 2016 and March 2018 (74 single dwellings built) a 
number will contribute to the self/customer build category and he supports officers in 
their assessment that the council will meet or exceed the required number by October 
2019. 
 
Supplementary question 
In response to a supplementary question regarding whether the council’s Local Plan 
allocated sites for self build, Councillor Cox responded that it did not but the council is 
investigating options. 
 

F. With the agreement of Council, in the absence of Councillor Margaret Crick, 
Councillor Catherine Webber asked the following question to Councillor Elaine 
Ware, Cabinet member for Housing and Environment 
 
What action is this council taking to reduce the single use plastics in the Vale – the 
council’s own use, our contractors and that of local business and other local 
organisations?  
 
Answer 
Councillor Ware responded that the council fully supports the recent national focus on 
reducing the amount of single use plastics.  
 
She stated that the council is supporting the international campaign Plastic Free July. 
Next week staff have been set the challenge of reducing their use of plastic. There is 
still some confusion around what plastics can be recycled so in the staff communal 
areas we are providing examples of single use plastics (to discourage their use), 
reusable alternatives and what can and can’t currently be recycled.  
 
As part of the council’s waste recycling promotion programme recycling officers visit 
schools, community groups and attend roadshows where they discuss the waste 
hierarchy and promote reduction and reuse of plastics as well as providing information 
of what can be recycled. The council has one of the highest recycling rates in the 
country and already recycles all plastic bottles, pots, tubs and trays. 
 
At a recent Oxfordshire Environmental Partnership meeting, all the Oxfordshire 
authorities discussed and agreed in principle to a coordinated media campaign to 
reduce the use of single use plastics and to encourage residents to recycle more.  
 
A group of officers from the waste team, economic development and food safety team 
are working together to investigate how local businesses can be encouraged to 
reduce their use of single use plastics. 
 
Supplementary question 
In response to a supplementary question on the need for an educational campaign 
regarding what plastics can be recycled, Councillor Ware responded that the 
Oxfordshire Environmental Partnership has agreed to coordinate a media campaign 
on this point. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.10 

 
G. Councillor Helen Pighills to Councillor Alice Badcock, Cabinet member for 

Community Services 

The new outdoor pool in Abingdon is a wonderful facility and is proving very popular 
with swimmers with five times more swimmers than last July, so can the cabinet 
member explain why the pool is not being open for longer to meet such a large 
increase in demand?  
 
Answer 
Councillor Badcock thanked Councillor Pighills for her comments and confirmed that 
the council is delighted with the refurbishment of the outdoor pool at Abbey Meadow 
and how popular the pool has proved since its re -opening last month.  The core 
opening hours (9am to 6pm, daily) is consistent with opening hours from previous 
years managed under contract with its leisure management operator GLL.  
 
Supplementary question 
In response to a supplementary question regarding the possibility of a trial period to 
assess early morning and evening opening and closing times, Councillor Badcock 
responded that under its agreement with GLL, of which the district council subsidise 
the management of the Abbey Meadow outdoor pool, GLL has the capacity should it 
wish, to increase the hours of operation where they consider there is a viable business 
case.  GLL and officers have monitored the interests closely in the first month of 
operation and will continue to review the demand and interest for increasing the hours 
of use and other aspects of the service – in order to do so, changes to GLL’s existing 
staffing arrangements would be required. GLL have also introduced a new online 
booking form which will also further enhance GLL data analysis whilst also delivering 
an improved service to our customers, officers will work with GLL to further improve 
this over time. 
 

H. Councillor Debby Hallett to Councillor Alice Badcock, Cabinet member for 
Community Services 
 
Could the Cabinet Member please provide to Council: 
1. Capital spend in the past five years for leisure facilities, including leisure centres, 

in each of our market towns/areas: Wantage & Grove, Faringdon, Abingdon and 

Botley.   

2. Capital spending plans from the Medium Term Financial Plan for the next five 

years for each of these areas.  

3. Where we can find the leisure strategy for each of these areas, describing 

council's plans to address capacity and conditions issues of leisure facilities, and 

in particular Leisure Centres, in our growing communities. 

 
Answer 
Councillor Badcock responded to question 1 with the following information for 
spending in the last five years: 

  2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 

Grove £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Wantage £45,960.00 £155,989.89 £155,582.73 £14,479.00 £533,630.15 

Faringdon £13,172.94 £32,981.73 £43,338.87 £58,190.00 £38,177.99 

Abingdon £431,804.87 £394,944.13 £251,183.07 £2,242,853.49 £1,249,662.78 

Botley £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

  £490,937.81 £583,915.75 £450,104.67 £2,315,522.49 £1,821,470.92 

 

Page 16



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.11 

In respect of question 2 regarding capital spending plans from the Medium Term 

Financial Plan for the next five years, Councillor Badcock provided the following 

information:  

 

  2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 
 Grove £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 
 Wantage £2,310,333.33 £10,501,000.00 £5,609,000.00 £655,000.00 £100,000.00 
 Faringdon £1,247,333.33 £100,000.00 £100,000.00 £100,000.00 £100,000.00 
 Abingdon £860,000.00 £100,000.00 £284,000.00 £100,000.00 £100,000.00 
 Botley £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 
   £4,417,666.67 £10,701,000.00 £5,993,000.00 £855,000.00 £300,000.00 
 

     

       In respect of question 3 she stated that the Leisure Strategy is made up from a suite of 
documents: 

 The Playing Pitch Study,  

 Leisure & Sports facilities Study 2013 – 2031 (Part 1 & Part 2) 

 Open Spaces Report  

 Local Leisure Facilities Report 

The Leisure and Sports Facilities Study (Part 1) address strategic need in accordance 
with Sport England methodology and includes the capacity and condition issues of our 
leisure centres. 

The documents form part of the evidence base to support the Local Plan 2031 Part 2: 
Additional Sites and Detailed Policies. The documents are available on the council’s 
website.  

 

Supplementary question 
In response to a supplementary question as to whether the Cabinet member considers 
the split of funding fair, Councillor Badcock undertook to provide a written response. 
 

I. Councillor Debby Hallett to Councillor Roger Cox, Cabinet member for 
Partnership and Insight 
 
Could the Cabinet member please explain what happened to cause the delay in 
payment of training fees for two members in May 2018? When the council’s payment 
wasn't received as expected, the organising agency contacted members and officers 
to chase the payment, causing embarrassment to council and members. Can the 
member assure us this will not recur? 
 
Answer 

Councillor Cox responded that this was a new supplier and it took a little time for 
payment arrangements to be set up and understood.  Once issued, the training 
provider's invoice was dated 20 April, with payment due by 20 May.  Payment was 
made on 16 May, within the 30 day terms and well in advance of the training date of 9 
June.   
 
Supplementary question 

In response to a supplementary question regarding the new supplier, Councillor Cox 
referred to his previous answer.  
 

Page 17



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.12 

 
J. Councillor Debby Hallett to Councillor Elaine Ware, Cabinet member for 

Housing and Environment 

Could the Cabinet member please update Council about any issues in the last 18 
months with the collection of direct debits for garden waste services? If there have 
been issues, what are they and what's been done to ensure there is no recurrence? 
 
Answer 
There have been no issues that officers are aware of in the last 18 months with the 
collection of direct debits for Vale’s garden waste customers. We are aware of a low 
number of isolated cases in South Oxfordshire where the direct debits failed and the 
customer has been contacted to re-establish a new direct debit. 
 

K. Councillor Judy Roberts to Councillor Elaine Ware, Cabinet member for 
Housing and Environment 
 
'Shared Ownership' allows people to purchase a 25% to 75% share in their own home, 
enabling key workers and others on average salaries the opportunity to get on to the 
property ladder. Yet the properties listed as part of this scheme in the Vale of White 
Horse are only ever advertised as available to people able to buy a share of 40% or 
more.  
 
Can the Cabinet member tell us how many homes were bought at 25% in the Vale in 
the past year, and explain why the Vale is not promoting shared ownership to people 
on lower incomes who might only be able to afford a 25% share as other authorities 
do?  
 
Answer 
Councillor Ware responded that in 2017/18 a total of 10 shared ownership properties 
in Vale of White Horse were either purchased or are currently being purchased at a 
25% equity share level.   The total number of shared ownership properties in the 
district either purchased or progressing to purchase in 2017/ 18 was 83. 
  
All shared ownership properties are advertised through the “Help to Buy South” 
website.  The website explains that applicants can purchase between 25% and 75% of 
the home’s value. The council’s websites also provides a link to “Help to Buy South” 
and Officers can provide advice to households who are considering shared 
ownership.   
 
Supplementary question 
In response to a supplementary question Councillor Ware stated that the council’s 
website provides an example of a 40% shared ownership although applicants can 
purchase a greater or smaller share.  
 

L. Councillor Emily Smith to Councillor Roger Cox, Cabinet member for Planning 

Can the Cabinet member advise how an incorrect map relating to green belt land in 
North Hinksey was submitted at LLP1 and how this error will be rectified to ensure the 
green belt land is correctly identified in the Local Plan. 
 
Answer: 
In response Councillor Cox stated that a clerical error was made following the Local 
Plan Part 1 Inspectors recommendation to retain a parcel of land at North Hinksey in 
the Green Belt on the Adopted Policies Map. Following legal advice, officers will be 

Page 18



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.13 

preparing a report to Cabinet and Council on how to regularise this error.  The chief 
executive has apologised for this error, which Councillor Cox regretted, but did not 
believe should detract from the overall work officers have undertaken to deliver the 
council’s Local Plan.  The chief executive has asked that any concerns regarding this 
matter are raised directly with him. 
 
Supplementary question 
In response to a supplementary question seeking reassurance that the piece of land 
will be protected, Councillor Cox responded that he could not speculate but the council 
had attempted to resolve the issue at the LLP2 hearing.  
  

M. Question from Councillor Debby Hallett to Councillor Elaine Ware, Cabinet 
member for Housing and Environment   

The NPPF guidance (https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-
framework/6-delivering-a-wide-choice-of-high-quality-homes#para051) tells us this: 

51. Local planning authorities should identify and bring back into residential use empty 
housing and buildings in line with local housing and empty homes strategies and, 
where appropriate, acquire properties under compulsory purchase powers.  

This guidance assumes councils have such policies. Can the Cabinet member for 
housing share with members the approach we have in Vale for getting empty homes 
back into use, and report on how many empty houses council has put back into use in 
the last three years.  

Answer 
Councillor Ware responded that the council has a number of policies to encourage 
empty homes back into use.  The council applies a 50% council tax premium to 
properties that have been empty for more than two years. (unless a statutory 
exemption applies).   The council does not use Empty Dwelling Management Orders 
as they have proven prohibitively complex and time consuming to administer in the 
past.  
  
The Environmental Protection team regularly engage with owners to help bring their 
properties back into use.  The Housing Needs team provide Deposit Bonds and Rent-
In-Advance loans to encourage private landlords to rent their properties to low income 
households.  There is also an Empty Home Loan available to homeowners which 
provides a flexible loan over five years to bring the property up to a decent standard. 
  
The number of long-term (empty longer than two years) empty properties in Vale, 
according to council tax records, were as follows: 
  
                                    31.03.2016      133 
                                    31.03.2017      129 
                                    31.03.2018      126 
          
              

      Supplementary question 
In response to a supplementary question regarding how many empty homes the 
council had put back into use, Councillor Ware responded the council provides 
incentives for private landlords to put homes into use but has no control. 
                     
  
 
 

Page 19

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/6-delivering-a-wide-choice-of-high-quality-homes#para051
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/6-delivering-a-wide-choice-of-high-quality-homes#para051


Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.14 

 

Co.23 Motions on notice  
 
A. Motion proposed by Councillor Emily Smith, seconded by Councillor Jenny 

Hannaby:  
 
Council recognises that: 
 Thames Valley Police are stretched to capacity, and that parking enforcement is 

one of their lowest priorities 

 members are regularly contacted by residents about inconvenient, illegal and 
dangerous parking violations that aren’t being enforced 

 we have the power to introduce civil parking enforcement, as neighbouring 
councils have done at no additional cost to their tax payers 

 
This Council agrees in principle to introduce a civil parking enforcement scheme 
across the Vale of White Horse.  
 
Council instructs officers to produce a Business Case (to include financial costs and 
income, delivery options and timescales) to be considered as part of next year's 
budget. 
 
With the consent of Council, the mover and seconder of the original motion accepted 
amended wording suggested by Councillor Elaine Ware and seconded by Councillor 
Mike Badcock (new words in bold deleted words shown by a strikethrough). 

 
Council recognises that: 
 Thames Valley Police are stretched to capacity, and that parking enforcement is 

one of their lowest priorities 

 members are regularly contacted by residents about inconvenient, illegal and 
dangerous parking violations that aren’t being enforced 

 we have the power to request the county council to delegate introduce civil 
parking enforcement, as neighbouring councils have done at no additional cost to 
their council tax payers 

 
This Council agrees in principle to introduce requests officers to investigate further 
the possibility of implementing a civil parking enforcement scheme across the Vale 
of White Horse.   

 
Council instructs requests officers to produce a Business Case (to include financial 
costs and income, delivery options and timescales) to be considered as part of next 
year's budget. 
 
The majority of councillors supported the motion noting that it was an issue in both the 
towns and villages of the district. They noted that due to other competing priorities the 
police are unable to fully resource parking enforcement.  Illegal parking impacted on 
businesses, waste collection and bus movements due traffic congestion. It was 
therefore time to introduce civil parking enforcement to manage the road network 
safely and to ensure the smooth flow of traffic.  Council noted that the Cabinet 
member for housing and environment had already requested officers to investigate 
further the possibility of implementing Civil Parking Enforcement with a financial 
appraisal of the costs. 
 
 
 

Page 20



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.15 

RESOLVED: 
That Council recognises that: 
 Thames Valley Police are stretched to capacity, and that parking enforcement is   

one of their lowest priorities 

 members are regularly contacted by residents about inconvenient, illegal and 
dangerous parking violations that aren’t being enforced 

 we have the power to request the county council to delegate civil parking 
enforcement, as neighbouring councils have done at no additional cost to their 
council tax payers 

This Council requests officers to investigate further the possibility of implementing a 
civil parking enforcement scheme across the Vale of White Horse.   

Council requests officers to produce a Business Case (to include financial costs and 
income, delivery options and timescales) to be considered as part of next year's 
budget. 

 
B. Motion to be proposed by Councillor Katie Finch, seconded by Councillor 

Chris Palmer:  
 

This Council congratulates the Cabinet on the significant investment in Abingdon’s 
Abbey Meadows, particularly the open air pool. The decision to secure the future of 
those facilities for many years to come is particularly welcomed by residents, 
especially in the light of the stated intention of a previous administration to close the 
pool permanently. Council is grateful for the significant efforts of officers and local 
interest groups in delivering the scheme.  
 
Councillors welcomed the refurbished facility which is well used and receiving 
favourable feedback from the public. A number of councillors referred to a previous 
lack of finance which threatened the viability of the facility.   
 
Councillors thanked Councillor Charlotte Dickson, former Cabinet member for leisure, 
officers and community groups for the role they had played in the specification and 
delivery of the current facility. With the agreement of Council, the mover and seconder 
of the motion agreed to include “officers and the contractor” in the motion. 
 
RESOLVED: 
That Council congratulates the Cabinet, officers and the contractor on the significant 
investment in Abingdon’s Abbey Meadows, particularly the open air pool.  The 
decision to secure the future of those facilities for many years to come is particularly 
welcomed by residents, especially in the light of the stated intention of a previous 
administration to close the pool permanently.  Council is grateful for the significant 
efforts of officers and local interest groups in delivering the scheme.  
 
C. With the agreement of Council, councillor Debby Hallett moved an altered 

motion from that set out in the agenda, seconded by Councillor Helen 
Pighills, to take account of a proposed amendment. Additional words are 
shown in bold with deleted words shown by a strikethrough: 

Council recognises the hugely valuable work that charities across the Vale do to 
support residents and help make our district a better place to live. But Council also 
recognises charities and community groups are struggling in the current financial 
climate. 
South Oxfordshire District Council has recently implemented a successful charity 
lottery, making it easier for residents who want to contribute and enabling that council 
to support more local voluntary sector organisations. 

Page 21



Vale of White Horse District Council – Council minutes  

Wednesday, 18 July 2018  Co.16 

 
Council would like this scheme replicated for the Vale of White Horse and requests 
that officers compile a business case for a local charity lottery scheme for the Vale for 
member review and consideration. 

 
Councillors supported the motion. The scheme, if implemented, would provide an 
opportunity for local people to support local charities and the voluntary sector. The 
relatively low prize payouts would not attract those with a gambling addiction. 
Councillors noted that a number of local authorities operate such schemes and that 
officers should be able to progress the matter in a relatively short timescale.    

 
RESOLVED: 
That Council recognises the hugely valuable work that charities across the Vale do to 
support residents and help make our district a better place to live. But Council also 
recognises charities and community groups are struggling in the current financial 
climate. 
  
South Oxfordshire District Council has recently implemented a successful charity 
lottery, making it easier for residents who want to contribute and enabling that council 
to support more local voluntary sector organisations. 
 
Council requests that officers compile a business case for a local charity lottery 
scheme for the Vale for member review and consideration. 
 
D.  Motion to be proposed by Councillor Debby Hallett, seconded by Councillor   

Judy Roberts 
 

Council notes that the Seven Principles of Public Life requires members to make their 
decisions available for public scrutiny and that "information should not be withheld 
from the public unless there are clear and lawful reasons for doing so". Councillors 
must adhere to the Code of Conduct in our behaviour.  
  
Council must be, and must be perceived to be, open and transparent in our decision 
making.  
  
This Council asks the monitoring officer to bring forward to the Joint Audit and 
Governance Committee a protocol on publishing councillor code of conduct 
complaint decisions and outcomes for district and parish councillors. 
 
Those councillors who supported the motion expressed the view that, if implemented, 
the revised process would illustrate that the council is open and transparent. It would 
provide the public with information about steps taken to improve the behaviour of 
district and parish councillors and provide reassurance in circumstances where no 
breach is established. 
 
However, other councillors expressed the view that the current process is working 
well. The Joint Audit and Governance Committee receives an annual report and at its 
meeting in March did not consider that the current system required amending. Any 
proposals to do so should be considered as part of that review.    
  
With the consent of Council and the seconder, in accordance with Council procedure 
rule 52, Councillor Hallett withdrew her motion. 

 
 
The meeting closed at 8.50pm  

Page 22



Cabinet Report 

 
Report of Head of Planning 

Author: Adrian Duffield 

Telephone: 01235 422600 

Textphone:  

E-mail: adrian.duffield@southandvale.gov.uk  

Wards affected: All 

 

Cabinet member responsible: Cllr. Roger Cox 

Tel: 01367 243360 

E-mail: roger.cox@whitehorsedc.gov.uk  

To: CABINET 

Date: 28 September 2018 

 

 

Oxfordshire Joint Spatial Plan  

Recommendations 

(a) To approve the Local Development Scheme (LDS) for the Joint Statutory Spatial Plan 
(JSSP) presented at Appendix 1. 
 
(b) To approve the draft Statement of Community Involvement 2018 (Appendix 2) for the 
JSSP for a six-week period of formal public consultation.  
 
(c) To authorise the Head of Planning, in agreement with the other councils’ equivalent, to 
make any necessary minor and presentational changes to the draft Local Development 
Scheme 2018 and draft JSSP Scoping Document before publication, and, the draft 
Statement of Community Involvement 2018 before formal consultation commences. 
 

Recommendation to Council 
 
(d) That the Scoping Document presented at Appendix 3 is approved 
 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. Statutory Spatial Plan (JSSP).  These documents comprise: 

- Draft Statement of Community Involvement 2018 

- Draft Local Development Scheme 

- Draft Scoping Document 

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7

mailto:adrian.duffield@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:roger.cox@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


Background 

2. The six Oxfordshire Councils and the Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 
(OXLEP) have agreed the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal with Government in 
March 2018. Under the terms of the Deal the councils have committed to producing 
an Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan (JSSP) for submission to the Planning 
Inspectorate for independent examination by 31 March 2020 and adoption by 31 
March 2021, subject to the examination process.   

3. When the councils agreed the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal through Council 
meetings in February 2018, one of the resolutions was to participate in the 
preparation of a Joint Statutory Spatial Plan in the timescales set out in the Growth 
Deal Delivery Plan and in accordance with S28 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.  

4. The JSSP will provide an Oxfordshire-wide, integrated strategic planning framework 
and associated evidence base to support sustainable growth across the county to 
2050, including the planned delivery of the new homes and economic development, 
and the anticipated supporting infrastructure needed.   

5. The JSSP will be a formal Development Plan Document (DPD), prepared under 
Section 28 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) which 
enables two or more local planning authorities (LPAs) to agree to prepare a joint 
Plan. In this case the partner LPAs are; Cherwell District Council, Oxford City 
Council, South Oxfordshire District Council, West Oxfordshire District Council and 
Vale of White Horse District Council. Oxfordshire County Council and the LEP will 
support the plan preparation process. 

6. At a meeting of Vale’s Cabinet and Council in February 2018, which considered the 
Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal, a list of matters deemed to be not negotiable 
were agreed. These ‘outstanding matters’ are set out at Appendix 4. Some of these 
matters are directly relevant to the consideration of this report. A significant matter 
which has been met, is the publication on 12 September of a Written Ministerial 
Statement.  This sets out a three year housing land supply for Oxfordshire councils 
until the adoption of a Joint Statutory Spatial Plan, subject to meeting the Housing 
and Growth Deal milestones.    

Options 

JSSP Local Development Scheme (LDS) 
 
7. Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 

requires Local Planning Authorities to prepare and maintain an LDS setting out a 
timetable for the production of DPDs.  

8. The LDS must specify: 

- which are local development documents and development plan documents; 
- the subject matter and geographical area to which each development plan 

document is to relate; 
- which development plan documents (if any) are to be prepared jointly with 

one or more other local planning authorities; 
- any matter or area in respect of which the authority has agreed (or propose 

Page 24



to agree) to the constitution of a joint committee; 
- the timetable for the preparation and revision of the development plan 

documents; and 
- such other matters as are prescribed. 

 
9. The Development Plan Documents must be prepared in accordance with the LDS 

and this must be demonstrated at public examination. The LDS will be used by 
officers, consultees, developers, agents and the public in determining when important 
milestones in the production of the JSSP and key stages of consultation can be 
expected. Implementation of the LDS will be monitored and the LDS will be 
periodically reviewed if there are significant changes in circumstances.   

 
10. The proposed draft JSSP LDS is presented in Appendix 1. This relates solely to the 

preparation of the JSSP for Oxfordshire. The partner Local Planning Authorities 
(LPAs) will also have their own individual LDSs concerned with the production of their 
individual Local Plans and other planning documents.  The key milestones for 
production of the JSSP are as follows:  

Early stakeholder engagement October 2018 

Consultation on Preferred Strategy 
Options (Reg.18) 

February/March 2019 

Consultation on Proposed Submission 
Draft Plan (Reg.19)  

October/November 2019  

Submission (Reg.22) March 2020 

Examination (Reg.24)  September 2020 tbc 

Receipt and Publication of Inspector’s 
Report  

December 2020 tbc 

Adoption (Reg.26) by each partner local 
planning authority  

March 2021 (subject to examination)  

 

11. Officers recommend that councillors support and adopt the LDS as set out at 
Appendix 1. 

Draft JSSP Statement of Community Involvement 
 
12. The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) is a requirement of Section 18 of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended). It needs to comply 
with statutory requirements and Government policy for plan making and 
consultation on planning matters. However, the Government no longer provides 
guidance on how to produce a SCI. It is for planning authorities to decide how they 
will prepare their own SCI. 

 
13.  As part of the preparation and adoption of the JSSP the Oxfordshire partner 

authorities will be producing a number of documents, requiring consultation. It is 
therefore important to have an up-to-date SCI that sets out the requirements and 
strategy for engaging with communities and key stakeholders. 

 
14.  The draft SCI (Appendix 2) clearly sets out the key stages for preparing the JSSP 

and how the Oxfordshire authorities intend to inform, involve and consult 
stakeholders on the preparation of the plan. It sets out what is required from the 
partner authorities, how and when. This SCI only relates to and is specific to the 
production of the JSSP. The partner LPAs will also have their own individual SCIs 

Page 25



concerned with the production of their individual Local Plans and other planning 
documents.  

 
15.  The SCI for the JSSP will ensure that the plan is shaped by early, proportionate and 

meaningful engagement between plan makers and communities, local 
organisations, businesses, infrastructure providers and statutory consultees.  

 
16.  The outcomes of the consultation processes set out in this SCI will be an important 

element of the considerations by the partner LPAs in developing the JSSP. 
However, they are one element of the considerations alongside other material 
matters such as the evidence base and the Sustainability Appraisal, etc. Consultees 
and those engaged should recognise the multi-faceted considerations that will go 
towards the conclusions in the JSSP that are submitted for consideration by an 
independent Examiner at Examination. 

 
17.  Officers recommend that the draft SCI (Appendix 2) is subject to a six week public  

consultation period, following which comments and any amendments to the draft 
will be considered by each partner LPA before adoption.  This will assist in the 
production of a robust SCI.   

 
 JSSP Scoping Document 
 
18. The JSSP Scoping Document (Appendix 3) is an informal document, not required 

by regulations, but is a helpful project planning tool that seeks to set out the 
understanding between the partner LPAs on the objectives of the JSSP and the 
processes that will be followed.  This will form an agreed framework for the project 
and it will be used to inform the work programme for the plan.   
 

19. The JSSP will provide an overall strategy for the scale and distribution of 
development up to 2050.  It will be a strategic document which will identify future 
growth areas and will not allocate specific sites itself.  It will not contain detailed 
policies, as these will be covered by future Local Plan reviews as necessary.  The 
JSSP will address the strategic and cumulative implications of growth and set out a 
long-term framework covering the whole of Oxfordshire.  A common evidence base 
will be developed to underpin the JSSP and future Local Plan reviews.  This will 
include work on environmental quality and natural capital, as well as on strategic 
transport and other infrastructure requirements.  The JSSP will take into account 
the commitments made in emerging and adopted Local Plans.   

 
20.  The non-negotiable matters for the Vale of White Horse District Council is attached 

at Appendix 4. A number of issues are raised, some of which can be considered 
and addressed through this report.  

 
21.   

Item  Commentary Sept 2018 

Scope of joint statutory 
spatial plan (JSSP) must 
be agreed by cabinet and 
full council. 

This report and the attached draft Scoping 
document at Appendix 3 seek to meet this request. 
The table set out within that document at paragraph 
3.7 provides a broad indication of the policy 
coverage of the JSSP and the existing and future 
Local Plans, if agreed. 

No substantive work on the The NPPF was published on 24 July 2018.  

Page 26



JSSP (for example, 
commissioning of 
evidence) is to begin until 
the government has 
finalised the new National 
Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and 
published a written 
ministerial statement 
establishing the 
Oxfordshire planning 
freedoms and flexibilities. 

 
The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government published a Written Ministerial 
Statement (WMS) 12 September 2018 granting a 
three housing land supply for Oxfordshire. 
 
Other than the attached LDS, draft SCI and Scoping 
Document, no substantive work has been 
progressed on the JSSP.  
 
No work to gather an evidence base for the JSSP 
has progressed. A list of evidence likely to be 
required is set out in the scoping document at 
paragraph 7.1. 

The JSSP will not allocate 
housing sites.  

The commentary provided at February’s Cabinet 
and Council meetings recognised that the allocation 
of sites would be a matter for agreement among the 
partner LPAs when the scope of the JSSP was 
defined.  
 
The Scoping Document confirms that no sites will be 
allocated. 
 

Annual housing targets, 
trajectories and objectively 
assessed need (OAN) may 
not be increased for any 
year in the life of the 
current local plan (to 
2031); nor may land supply 
and housing delivery 
calculations be based on 
higher baselines than 
those already built into the 
adopted local plan. 

The revised NPPF introduces a local calculation of 
housing need to inform the minimum number of 
houses needed, unless exceptional circumstances 
justify an alternative approach. Any unmet housing 
needs from neighbouring areas should also be taken 
into account. The draft planning practice guidance 
(PPG) which was published 13 September referred 
to specific instances where an uplift to the minimum 
figure would be appropriate, which included Housing 
Deals. The minimum number of houses derived from 
the new calculation is lower across Oxfordshire, and 
for the Vale of White Horse District Council. 

 

Officers consider that the scope of the JSSP as set out at Appendix 3 meets the 
minimum requirements of the Council and recommend the approval of the scoping 
document, subject to Councillors being satisfied that the red lines have been met. 

 
 Approval Processes 
22.  The JSSP is a formal DPD prepared under Section 28 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) which enables two or more local 
planning authorities to agree to prepare a joint Plan. It also necessitates that 
approval of that plan and relevant stages of its production to be formally agreed by 
the individual partner authorities.   

 
23. The February Council resolutions included the principle of preparing a JSSP in 

accordance with S28 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. Vale of 
White Horse District Council raised a number of matters which were deemed to be 
not negotiable and the progress of the JSSP and the attached documentation is 
subject to the agreement that the relevant concerns have been addressed. 

Page 27



 
24.  Each of the five partner LPAs are considering the draft LDS, the Draft SCI and the 

draft JSSP Scoping Document during the month of September. All the partner 
meetings will be presented with the same draft documents and recommended to 
agree them.  

 
25. The documents will also be discussed at Oxfordshire County Council’s Cabinet 

where they are invited to note and support these documents in their capacity as a 
key Growth Board partner and statutory consultee for the JSSP. 

 
26.  Following the partner LPA decision, the JSSP Project Team will commence 

consultation on the Draft SCI for a six week period in October 2018. Following this 
consultation period, a final SCI, amended as appropriate in response to comments 
received, will be reported to Cabinet for final approval in December 2018. 

 
27. The development of the JSSP under the s28 process will be overseen and informed 

by a sub-group of the Growth Board made up of member representatives of each of 
the local authorities.  

 
28. Please note that these documents are part of the on-going preparation to produce 

the JSSP.  Approval of these documents and formal commencement of the JSSP 
process is subject to the delivery of the Planning Freedoms and Flexibilities that are 
part of the Deal with the Government. Consultation on the Draft SCI will not 
commence until the Government has confirmed the delivery of the 3 year housing 
land supply flexibility.  The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 
Government published the Written Ministerial Statement 12 September 2018 

 

Financial Implications 

29. As part of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal, the government has agreed 
£2.5 million capacity funding over three years to support the development of the 
JSSP. The business case will be reviewed in light of the scoping document and 
timescales set out in the Local Development Scheme, with the intention of 
delivering the project within this funding envelope. Any costs over and above this 
would be subject to further agreement by the Oxfordshire Authorities and met from 
existing Planning Policy budgets. The revised business case will also examine 
future savings that will result from the JSSP and its joint evidence base to the five 
local planning authorities in their work on future Local Plan reviews. 

 
30. Any work directly commissioned by the Vale of White Horse District Council will be 

claimed back from the capacity fund held by Oxfordshire County Council as the 
Accountable Body for the Deal, or from other Local Plan Authorities over and above 
the capacity funding. 

31. The cost of implementing the updated SCI 2018 as proposed will be met within existing 
budgets of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal.  

Legal Implications 

32. The Council has a legal duty to produce an SCI under the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended), if it is producing a development plan document 

Page 28



Risks 

33. The SCI is a requirement of Section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 (as amended). To not adopt an SCI would leave the production of the JSSP 
and the soundness of the development plan document open to challenge.   

34. The draft SCI has been produced having regarded to statutory and policy 
requirements for plan-making. Examples of recently approved SCIs have been 
considered. It is considered by officers to be an appropriate consultation document. 

35. The JSSP SCI seeks to ensure opportunities for participation in the JSSP process, 
including fair access for all regardless of a person’s protected characteristic as 
defined by the Equality Act 20101. The way that the JSSP team consults on the 
preparation of the JSSP could have an impact on people who may have challenges 
in accessing information, such as those that do not have English as their first 
language, disabled people or those who are unable to access the internet. Therefore, 
an Equality Impact Assessment will be produced when preparing JSSP documents 
for each stage of consultation. 

Conclusion 

36. The Council and its partner LPAs are at an early stage in the production of a 
Statutory Spatial Plan for Oxfordshire. Once adopted the JSSP will form part of the 
Council’s Development Plan against which formal planning decisions will be made 
and other local planning documents prepared. The Council has a statutory duty to 
prepare and maintain an LDS under Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 (as amended). The preparation of the plan will require community 
and stakeholder involvement and the production of a SCI is a legal requirement 
under Section 18 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 
to ensure compliance with statutory requirements and Government policy for plan 
making and consultation on planning matters.    

 
36. These documents, if agreed, will not replace the Councils existing LDSs and SCIs, 

they will remain relevant to all other planning documents.   

 
 

Background Papers 

None 
 

Appendices 
1. Local Development Scheme. 
2. Draft Statement of Community Involvement. 
3. JSSP Scoping Document. 
4. Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal - Outstanding matters for the Vale of the 

White Horse. 

                                            
1   A “protected characteristic” under the Act -  age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage or civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race includes (colour, nationality, ethnic or national origin), religion, 
belief, sex and sexual orientation.  
 

Page 29



1 
 

 
 
 

OXFORDSHIRE JOINT STATUTORY 
SPATIAL PLAN 

DRAFT LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 
AUGUST 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Produced by: 
 

                  
 
 
               
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Supported by: 
 
 

 
 

Page 30



Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan Local Development Scheme August 2018 

 

2 
 

CONTENTS 
 
        
 
Introduction - Purpose of a Local Development Scheme                 
            
Background                                                                                               
               
The Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan                                      
 
Statement of Community Involvement                                             
              
Programme for the production of the JSSP                                                                                
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan Local Development Scheme August 2018 

 

3 
 

Introduction - Purpose of a Local Development Scheme 

 

1. This is the Local Development Scheme (LDS) for the Oxfordshire Joint Statutory 
Spatial Plan (JSSP). It will be endorsed by the Oxfordshire Growth Board and then 
formally approved by the Oxfordshire District Planning Authorities.  

  
2. The Oxfordshire authorities consider it important that stakeholders are engaged in 

the preparation of the JSSP; this LDS explains how the JSSP will be produced and 
when, so that it is clear when people will be able to get involved. It outlines the 
programme for completion and adoption of the Plan over the period to March 2021.   

 
3. The LDS will be revised as necessary and rolled forward on a regular basis to take 

account of progress on preparation of the JSSP and monitoring. 
 

 
Background 
 
4. The six Oxfordshire Councils and the Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

(OXLEP) have agreed the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal with Government. 
Under the terms of the Deal the local authorities have committed to producing an 
Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan (JSSP) for submission by 31 March 2020 
and adoption by 31 March 2021, subject to examination process.  

 
5. The JSSP will be a formal Development Plan Document (DPD), prepared under 

Section 28 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) which 
enables two or more local planning authorities to agree a joint Plan.  

 
6. The JSSP will provide an Oxfordshire-wide, integrated strategic planning framework 

and supporting evidence base to support sustainable growth across the county to 
2050, including the planned delivery of the new homes and economic development, 
and the anticipated supporting infrastructure needed. 

 
7. Section 15 of the Act requires local planning authorities to prepare and maintain a 

LDS which specifies: 

 the documents which are to be Development Plan Documents; 

 the subject matter and geographical area to which each Development Plan 
Document is to relate; 

 which documents are to be development plan documents 

 which Development Plan Documents are to be prepared jointly with one or more 
other local planning authorities; 

 any matter or area in respect of which the authorities have agreed (or propose to 
agree) to the constitution of a joint committee; 

 the timetable for the preparation and revision of the Development Plan 
Documents; and 

 such other matters as are prescribed. 
 

8. The JSSP will set the strategic framework for the preparation of local plans in 
Oxfordshire; as a development plan document, on adoption it will become part of the 
Development Plan for each local planning authority area. In view of its importance in 
establishing the strategic direction of growth for the county it is appropriate that a 
LDS be prepared for it in its own right. This LDS is only concerned with that 
document. 

 

Page 32



Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan Local Development Scheme August 2018 

 

4 
 

9. The Oxfordshire Local Planning Authorities will separately each prepare and maintain 
a LDS for production of their own Local Plans.  

 
10. Neighbourhood Plans produced by Town or Parish Councils or other relevant bodies, 

are prepared to a timescale set by each plan-making body and on adoption they 
become part of the statutory Development Plan.  Neighbourhood plans need to be in 
general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the JSSP or Local plans. 

 
11. Fig 1 below shows the relationship between the JSSP and the Local Plans and 

Neighbourhood Plans 
 

 
  
The Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan (JSSP) 

 
12. The JSSP will be a countywide strategic plan which integrates planning for growth 

and infrastructure; considering quality of life and place-making issues to secure 
sustainable development. 

 
13. It will identify the overall quantum of housing and economic growth within Oxfordshire 

to be planned for to 2050 and their distribution across the county, strategic priorities, 

Page 33



Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan Local Development Scheme August 2018 

 

5 
 

and strategic infrastructure necessary to deliver the spatial strategy. Its preparation 
will include the calculation of new housing need figures based upon the methodology 
in the National Planning Policy Framework, and the implications of the Oxford to 
Cambridge Corridor. Paragraph 6 of the National Planning Policy Framework states 
that other statements of government policy may be material when preparing plans, 
such as relevant Written Ministerial Statements and endorsed recommendations of 
the National Infrastructure Commission.  The detailed scope of the JSSP will be 
defined early in the process of preparation. 

 
14. The JSSP will set the strategic planning context within which Local Plans will sit. It 

will link to a new 2050 Transport Vision and a new Oxfordshire Local Industrial 
Strategy. It will also integrate with the higher-level framework to be developed for the 
Oxford - Milton Keynes - Cambridge Growth Corridor.   

 
Statement of Community Involvement 
 

15. A Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) has been produced specifically to 
explain how local communities and other stakeholders will be engaged in the 
preparation of the JSSP.  

 

Programme for the production JSSP 
 
16. The programme for preparing the JSSP is set out in the schedule below, this is 

consistent with the timeframes specified in the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal.  

 
Title Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan 

 

Subject 
Matter 

The JSSP will identify the overall quantum of housing and economic 
growth within Oxfordshire to be planned for to 2050 and their distribution 
across the county, strategic priorities, and strategic infrastructure 
necessary to deliver the spatial strategy. 

Geographical 
Area 

Oxfordshire  

Status  Development Plan Document (DPD) 

Timetable 
(Dates are on 
or before) 

Formal commencement (signing of 
Oxfordshire Housing & Growth Deal)  

31 January 2018  

Early Stakeholder Engagement October 2018 TBC 

Consultation on Preferred Strategy 
Options (Reg. 18) 

February / March 2019 

Consultation on Proposed Submission 
Draft Plan (Reg. 19) 

October / November 2019 

Submission (Reg. 22) March 2020 

Examination (Reg. 24) Expected September 2020 
TBC 

Receipt and Publication of Inspector’s 
Report 

December 2020 

Adoption (Reg 26) March 2021 (subject to 
examination) 

Notes: Examination dates and subsequent programme subject to 
confirmation from the Planning Inspectorate and views of Inspector. 

Resources 
Required 

A JSSP Sub Group and a specific JSSP Project Team will be established 
and support the process. 

Page 34



 

6 
 

 
 
 

  2018 2019 2020 2021 

  J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M 
Formal commencement (signing of Deal) Jan 18                                          
Early Stakeholder Engagement Oct 18                                          
Consultation on Preferred Options (Reg. 18) Feb/March 19                                         
Consultation on Proposed Submission Draft (Reg. 19) Oct/Nov 19                                         
Submission (Reg. 22) March 20                                          
Examination (Reg. 24) Sept 20 TBC                                          
Receipt and Publication of Inspector’s Report Dec 20 TBC                                          
Adoption (Reg 26) March 21 TBC                                          

 P
age 35



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 

OXFORDSHIRE JOINT STATUTORY 
SPATIAL PLAN 

DRAFT STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY 
INVOLVEMENT 
AUGUST 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Produced by: 
 

                  
 
 
               
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Supported by: 
 
 

 
 
 

  

Page 36



 

2 
 

 
 

Statement of Community Involvement 
 

How the Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan will be prepared with 
Community and Stakeholder Engagement 

 
August 2018 

Introduction  
 

1. This is the Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) for the Oxfordshire Joint 
Statutory Spatial Plan (JSSP).  It will be endorsed by the Oxfordshire Growth Board 
for consultation and then formally considered by the Oxfordshire District Planning 
Authorities in November. 

 
2. The six Oxfordshire Councils and the Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

(OXLEP) have agreed the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal with Government. 
Under the terms of the Deal the local authorities have committed to producing an 
Oxfordshire JSSP for submission to the Planning Inspectorate for independent 
examination by 31 March 2020 and adoption by 31 March 2021, subject to 
examination process.  

 
3. The JSSP will provide an Oxfordshire-wide, integrated strategic planning framework 

and supporting evidence base to support sustainable growth across the county to 
2050, including the planned delivery of the new homes and economic development, 
and the anticipated supporting infrastructure needed. 
 

4. The JSSP will be a formal Development Plan Document (DPD), prepared under 
Section 28 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) which 
enables two or more local planning authorities to agree to prepare a joint Plan. 
Oxfordshire County Council will support the plan preparation process. 
 

5. A JSSP Project Board will be established in July 2018 to guide the preparation of the 
JSSP. The Oxfordshire Growth Board which includes the Oxfordshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) will monitor progress on the JSSP, and approve its 
budget, reviewing the achievement of milestones as part of an annual review.  
 

6. The JSSP will be prepared with community and stakeholder involvement.  
 

7. This SCI sets out how the Oxfordshire authorities intend to inform, involve and 
consult stakeholders on the preparation of the JSSP and when they will be engaged 
in the process. This SCI is specific to the production of the JSSP. The Local Planning 
Authorities (LPAs) will also have their own individual SCIs concerned with the 
production of their Local Plans. 
 

8. This SCI will ensure that the JSSP will be shaped by early, proportionate and 
meaningful engagement between plan makers and communities, local organisations, 
businesses, infrastructure providers and statutory consultees. 
 

9. The outcomes of the consultation processes set out in this SCI will be an important 
element of the considerations of the LPAs in developing the JSSP. However, they 
are one element of the considerations alongside other material matters such as the 
evidence base and the Sustainability Appraisal etc. Consultees and those engaged 
should recognise the multi-faceted considerations that will go towards the 
conclusions in the JSSP that are sent forward for Examination. 

 

Page 37



 

3 
 

10. The JSSP will build on the current suite of adopted and emerging Local Plans that 
plan to between 2031 and 2036, the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS) and 
the Oxfordshire Local Transport Plan and will link both to a new 2050 Transport 
Vision and Local Industrial Strategy. The Plan will also integrate with the higher-level 
framework to be developed for the Oxford-Milton Keynes - Cambridge Growth 
Corridor.  

 
11. The JSSP will identify the overall quantum of housing and economic growth within 

Oxfordshire to be planned for to 2050 and its distribution across the county, strategic 
priorities, and the strategic infrastructure necessary to deliver the spatial strategy. Its 
preparation will include the calculation of new housing need figures based upon the 
methodology in the National Planning Policy Framework, and the implications of the 
Oxford – Milton Keynes - Cambridge Growth Corridor. 

 
12. The JSSP will be formally adopted by the individual LPAs and will provide a high-

level framework for the review and roll-forward of the Local Plans and related 
Neighbourhood Plans. Fig.1 shows the relationship between the JSSP and other 
relevant plans. 

 

Relationship between JSSP and Other Plans 

 

  

Page 38



 

4 
 

Duty to Cooperate 

 

13. LPAs, County Councils and other public organisations have a Duty to Co-operate 
with one another, particularly in the context of strategic cross boundary matters. The 
way the Oxfordshire local authorities are working together under the Duty to 
Cooperate to complete the JSSP is set out in an Oxfordshire-wide Statement of 
Common Ground. 
 

When and how we will involve Stakeholders 
 

14. A public-sector Equality Duty came into force on 5 April 2011. It means that public 
bodies must consider all individuals when carrying out their day-to-day work in 
shaping policy, in delivering services and in relation to their own employees. It also 
requires that public bodies have due regard to the need to: 

 eliminate discrimination 

 advance equality of opportunity 

 foster good relations between different people when carrying out their 
activities. 

 
15. The Town and Country Planning (Local Development) (England) Regulations 2012 

identify specific and general consultation bodies that must be consulted when 
preparing Local Plans and Supplementary Planning Documents. Specific 
consultation bodies must be consulted where the proposed subject matter will be of 
interest to them. There is also a requirement to invite representations from such 
residents and persons carrying on business as considered appropriate. 
 

16. The Oxfordshire Councils intend that all people should have the opportunity to have 
their say in how the county is spatially planned irrespective of their differences; 
including by way of age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion and belief, sex and sexual orientation. Research may be commissioned 
to understand public attitudes on relevant topics.  Documents will be written in plain 
English.  To achieve value for money and to ensure that consultation is proportionate 
to the issues being considered, the translation of documents into other languages will 
be balanced against the cost, time constraints and the available resources.  
 

17. Relevant regulations set out the formal stages in the preparation process of the 
JSSP, i.e. when we must formally publish the documents for comment and for how 
long.  This SCI reflects how these requirements will be met. Additional days will only 
be added where statutory Public Holidays (England) fall within the formal consultation 
period.  
 

18. The early stage of plan preparation will involve engagement with specific 
stakeholders, prescribed bodies, partners and consultees to inform the identification 
of issues and options. Notwithstanding the above, engagement with specific 
stakeholders will be undertaken on a continuous basis to ensure options are 
thoroughly tested and policy preparation is robust.  We may use panels or reference 
groups as part of this enagagement. 
 

19. A JSSP consultation database containing specific and general consultees and others 
that have expressed an interest to be consulted will be developed and maintained in 
accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation. Where consultation is 
required, all those on the consultation database will be consulted. When an individual 
or organisation makes a representation on the JSSP or its supporting documentation 
they will be added to the consultation database.  
 

20. There will be opportunities to comment on the draft JSSP when it is formally 
published and to be involved during its examination by an independent Inspector. 

Page 39



 

5 
 

 
21. A Sustainability Appraisal is an integral part of the plan preparation process and is 

required for DPDs. It looks at the environmental, social and economic effects of a 
plan to make sure that the plan promotes sustainable development and takes the 
most appropriate approach given reasonable alternatives. At each stage of the JSSP 
preparation there will be a corresponding stage of the Sustainability Appraisal which 
will be made available for comment during public consultation. 
 

22. Groups we will engage with during the JSSP preparation process will include:  
 

 statutory consultees as set out in the relevant regulations, including 
neighbouring councils; 
  

 local service providers and other key general consultation bodies who may 
have an interest in the JSSP; and  

 

 other interested groups, businesses, developers, landowners, agents, Town 
Councils and Parishes, and residents who register on our consultation 
database. 

 
23. Different levels and methods of community involvement will be appropriate as the 

JSSP progresses through the plan-making process. Table 1 sets out the key 
consultation stages and milestone dates in the preparation of the JSSP, together with 
the different groups we will involve in the plan-making process and how we propose 
to involve them. 

 
Consultation stages in JSSP preparation process 
 

Who will be involved What are we 
consulting on? 
 

How are we consulting? 
 

Early Stakeholder Engagement – focused consultation 

Informal dialogue with 
targeted stakeholders - 
focusing on the 
challenges/opportunities for 
developing strategy options 

Initial scoping of key 
issues and options with 
stakeholders  

 JSSP website 

 Contact consultees/ 
organisations by email 

 Stakeholder 
meeting/workshop 

 Events/exhibitions  

 Press release 

Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 

Consult 
people/organisations listed 
in the Regulations and 
others as appropriate 

Consulting on SA 
implications of various 
options identified 

 Email contact 

 JSSP website 

 LPA Websites  

Call for Strategic Development Options 

Landowners, developers, 
agents, general public 

To identify the 
availability, suitability 
and deliverability of 
land for strategic 
growth  

 Targeted e-mail contact 

 JSSP website 

 LPA websites 

Preferred strategy options Consultation (Reg.18) 

Consult 
people/organisations listed 
in the Regulations and 
others as appropriate 

Publish document - six 
weeks 

 

 JSSP website 

 Contact consultees/ 
organisations by email 

 Events/ exhibitions 

 Press release 

Page 40



 

6 
 

 

Pre-Submission Consultation (Reg. 19) 

Consult 
people/organisations listed 
in the Regulations and 
others as appropriate 

Publish document - six 
weeks 
 

 JSSP website 

 Contact consultees/ 
organisations by email 

 Press release 

Examination 

Notify people/organisations 
listed in the Regulations 
and others as appropriate 
via Programme Officer 

Publish dates and 
programmes 
associated with 
Examination 

 JSSP website 

 Contact consultees/ 
organisations by email 

 Press release 

Consultation on Inspectors main modifications to the draft plan (if any) 

Notify people/organisations 
listed in the Regulations 
and others as appropriate 
via Programme Officer 

Potential main 
modifications to JSSP 

 JSSP website 

 Contact consultees/ 
organisations by email 

 Press release 

Publication of Inspector’s Report 

Notify people/organisations 
listed in the Regulations 
and others as appropriate 
via Programme Officer 

Only distributed for 
information 

 JSSP website 

 Contact consultees/ 
organisations by email 

 Press release 

Adoption (subject to examination)  

March 2021 - No further consultation 

 
Review of the SCI  
 

24. The SCI will be updated if a review is required due to changes to: 

 Legislation/national policy 

 Local decisions  

 Consultation methods 

 Technology 
 
How to Comment on the JSSP 
 

25. The SCI sets out the methods we will use to engage with stakeholders and residents 
on the development of the JSSP. We will encourage electronic engagement as the 
primary portal for consultation and will encourage people to make use of the JSSP 
consultation portal, accessed through the JSSP website as this will set out the 
information we are seeking at each consultation stage, together with clear 
instructions on how to register comments. This will offer an easy method for 
response and in turn will help speed up our analysis of the comments received.  We 
will report the comments received to each of the individual authorities as the SCI is 
finalised. 
 

26. We will receive comments online or by post.  A comments form will be produced at 
each stage of involvement.  The form will be able to be used through the portal, 
alternatively the form or letters can be emailed to us at. 
 
……………………… 
 
or sent to:  

Page 41



 

7 
 

 
      ……………………… 
 

27. The Councils will comply with the obligations under the General Data Protection 
Regulations, and the principles of the Data Protection Act, in how they manage any 
personal data collected through consultation processes.   
 

28. Upon publication of a draft plan for consultation we will also deposit one paper copy 
of the JSSP at each district council head office in Oxfordshire and at libraries 
throughout Oxfordshire. 

  

Page 42



 

8 
 

Appendix 1: Consultation Bodies which may have an interest in the 
proposed Oxfordshire JSSP 
 
Specific Consultation Bodies 
 
Homes England (formerly the Homes and Communities Agency) 
 
Environment Agency 
 
Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England (known as Historic 
England) 
 
Natural England 
 
Network Rail  
 
Highways England (formerly the Highways Agency) 
 
Electronic communications providers  
 
NHS Oxfordshire Trusts and Clinical Commissioning Group  
 
Utilities – Electricity, Gas, Sewerage, Water  
 
Neighbouring authorities: 

 Aylesbury Vale District Council 

 Buckinghamshire County Council 

 Cotswold District Council 

 Gloucestershire County Council 

 Northamptonshire County Council 

 Reading Borough Council 

 South Northamptonshire Council 

 Stratford-on-Avon District Council 

 Swindon Borough Council 

 Warwickshire County Council 

 West Berkshire Council 

 Wiltshire Council 

 Wokingham Borough Council 

 Wycombe District Council 
 
Other Consultees 
 
General Consultation Bodies  
 
Ministry of Defence 
 
Civil Aviation Authority  

Page 43



 
OXFORDSHIRE JOINT STATUTORY 

SPATIAL PLAN 
SCOPING DOCUMENT 

AUGUST 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Produced by: 
 

                  
 
 
               
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Supported by: 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 44



Oxfordshire Joint Strategic Spatial Plan 
Scoping Document 

 
 

1.0 Introduction  
 

1.1 The Councils in Oxfordshire have agreed to produce a Joint Statutory Spatial Plan (JSSP), building 
upon the existing joint working and partnership arrangements through the Oxfordshire Housing 
and Growth Deal. The Oxfordshire JSSP will provide a strategic policy framework for Oxfordshire to 
2050.   This recognises and reinforces the commitment to the Housing and Growth Deal to deliver 
up to 100,000 homes over a 20 year period by 2031.  
 

1.2 The JSSP will identify the number of new market and affordable homes, the level of economic 
growth and related infrastructure that is needed across Oxfordshire. It will then seek to place the 
required growth in a cohesive and sustainable spatial planning framework that will set the scene 
for a future round of Local Plans.  This approach will allow district local planning authorities to 
subsequently establish detailed planning policies and site allocations at a local level. 

 
1.3 The JSSP will cover the administrative county area of Oxfordshire. However, it will seek to address 

linkages to wider planning considerations, for example the Oxford-Milton Keynes-Cambridge 
Growth Corridor. This will comprise the local planning authorities of: 

 Cherwell District Council 

 Oxford City Council 

 South Oxfordshire District Council 

 Vale of White Horse District Council 

 West Oxfordshire District Council  
 

1.4 The JSSP will also be prepared in partnership with Oxfordshire County Council, which has a key 
role given its responsibilities for the delivery of key infrastructure and services such as transport 
and education, and the Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership which is leading on the 
production of the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS). 
 

1.5  This Scoping Document aims to: 

 Determine the geographical extent of the JSSP 

 Explain the policy context within which the JSSP is proposed and parameters for the JSSP  

 Determine the plan period for the JSSP  

 Set out the timetable, key milestones and procedures of the JSSP  

 Set out the proposed structure of the JSSP 

 Explain the robust evidence base which will be required to underpin the delivery of a sound 
JSSP  

 Clarify the linkages to other relevant work programmes 

 Explain the governance arrangements of the JSSP project  

 Set out the importance of communications and consultation to the project 

 Set out the JSSP team structure  
 

2.0 Geographical extent  
 

2.1 The JSSP will cover the administrative area of Oxfordshire (all five constituent districts). The 
parties involved in the JSSP have committed to this process as they see the benefits of collectively 
agreeing the level of growth, the broad spatial location of that growth and in setting aspirations 

Page 45



for place making at a strategic level.  The JSSP also offers an opportunity to formally consider the 
infrastructure needs collectively, to align strategies, and form part of any application for 
infrastructure funding through the Growth Deal or other sources.  
 
 

2.2 Planning on an Oxfordshire-wide scale gives added benefits to the plan.  Many of the issues that a 
plan needs to consider are better dealt with at this higher level, for example Oxfordshire is a 
housing market area and functional economic area, people live and work across the county, 
everyday life is not restricted to district administrative boundaries.  Some spatial planning issues 
for example Green Belt, biodiversity and transport can be dealt with at a district level, but will 
benefit from consideration at a higher level with a consistent approach across the authorities.  The 
JSSP will also form valuable evidence of compliance with the Duty to Co-operate.  

 

3.0 Policy context and parameters 
 
3.1 Each Oxfordshire district is committed through the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal to 

submitting a Local Plan for examination by April 2019.  The districts are at different stages of Local 
Plan production, however each authority is well on the way to producing a Local Plan covering the 
period to 2031 or 2036.  As stated in the Housing and Growth Deal Delivery Plan, ‘The Oxfordshire 
authorities are committed to planning to meet the 100,000 housing requirement for Oxfordshire 
set out by the Oxfordshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) by 2031’.  The  Local 
Plans make provision for these homes  and they allocate specific sites for development.   
 

3.2 The JSSP will build on the foundations set by the suite of current and emerging Local Plans and 
look at the strategic planning issues for the period up to 2050.  The JSSP will take into account the 
existing commitments made by this suite of plans through their site allocations as a baseline for 
the earliest part of the JSSP plan period.   
 

3.3 The agreed Statement of Common Ground identified the following key matters for the JSSP to set 
out: 

 An overall strategy for the pattern and scale of development in Oxfordshire to 2050 

 Identify the number of new market and affordable homes and level of economic growth 
needed across Oxfordshire 

 Identify an appropriate spatial strategy and strategic locations for new development based 
upon an understanding and appreciation of both the environmental quality and natural 
capital of Oxfordshire 

 Outline the strategic transport and other infrastructure that needs to be provided to 
support sustainable growth 
 

3.4 The JSSP will be a formal Development Plan Document, prepared under Section 28 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) which enables two or more local planning 
authorities to agree a joint Plan. It will form part of the development plan for each of the 
authorities in Oxfordshire and will used in the formulation of more detailed plans locally and in 
determining planning applications where appropriate.  

 
3.5 The JSSP will form the framework within which subsequent Local Plans will be drafted.  

Subsequent Local Plans will need to be in broad conformity with the JSSP and provide a detailed 
application of the strategic policies which it contains. 
 

3.6 All parties agree that whilst the JSSP will set out the level of growth and the strategy and broad 
locations for growth; the JSSP will not contain policies that cover detailed matters. This is 

Page 46



supported by the NPPF which recognises that strategic policies should not extend to detailed 
matters that are more appropriately dealt with at a local level through neighbourhood plans or 
other non-strategic policies (paragraph 28).  

 
3.7 The JSSP’s strategic policies will cover the following matters:  

 

 County wide housing requirement figures  

 Affordable housing requirements  

 Identification of strategic growth areas  

 Strategic housing trajectory 

 Gypsy, Traveller and boat dwellers, needs and distribution 

 County wide employment growth figures 

 The spatial dimension of the Local Industrial Strategy 

 Retail hierarchy 

 Green Belt strategy and policies 

 Biodiversity and natural environment  

 Placemaking and built environment  

 Health and wellbeing 

 Green infrastructure  

 Strategic environmental allocations 

 Transport strategy 

 Infrastructure strategy 

 Energy framework 
 

3.8 While the JSSP will set out strategic policies on these matters future Local Plans will set out the 
strategic policies on other matters, and also the local policies on these and other matters. 

 
3.9 The JSSP will set out the identified housing requirement for Oxfordshire and the apportionment 

for each Local Authority area and identify strategic growth areas for housing and economic growth 
within each Local Authority area, taking account of the opportunities offered by infrastructure 
investment, environmental constraints and economic growth forecasts (aligned with the LIS). 
 

3.10 Whilst the JSSP will determine the spatial strategy and strategic growth locations it is unlikely to 
allocate sites.  The precise level of detail that this information will be presented in will be 
determined through the production of the plan.  However it is considered that for the JSSP to add 
real value to the process, to set a good framework for the Local Plans that follow, and for 
authorities to be able to resist speculative proposals that do not fit within the agreed strategy, the 
JSSP needs to go beyond global Oxfordshire figures and district based apportionments and be 
more specific by identifying strategic growth areas on a key diagram with associated housing / 
employment numbers.  The following diagram is taken from the West of England Plan as one 
example of how this could be illustrated. 

 

Page 47



 
 

4.0 Plan Period  
 

4.1 The Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal commits the JSSP to covering the period to 2050.  This 
is a significantly longer period than is typical with a Local Plan and is important in this strategic 
context.  It is more difficult to predict and forecast patterns and needs with certainty over an 
extended period and it is well accepted through examination that the level of detail and certainty 
of an evidence base supporting a plan will decrease over the plan period.  It is considered 
appropriate therefore that the JSSP will address the time period in phases.  For example it would 
seem logical to consider the period 2020-2030, then 2030-2040 and then 2040-2050 as phases of 
the strategy. 
 

4.2 In terms of that first phase, 2020-2030, a significant amount of joint work across the Oxfordshire 
authorities has already taken place with a joint SHMA, Growth Board agreed apportionment of 
Oxford’s unmet need and the post-SHMA work.  All of this has fed into the current and emerging 
round of Local Plans.  These Local Plans cover the period from 2011-2031/36.  There is therefore a 
good deal of detail and certainty around the period to 2031/36 as plans and strategies are well 
advanced. 
 

4.3 The next two phases of the JSSP 2030-2040 and 2040-50 will be based on a new evidence base 
produced specifically for the JSSP.  The level of certainty around any forecasting will vary from 
topic to topic, but in general it is considered it will be possible to have a good level of certainty in 
data for the period 2030-2040 even if the level of confidence in the assessments for the period 
2040-2050 is less certain.  It is nonetheless vital to address the latter part of the period as a core 
part of the plan; it is this long-term vision where the JSSP adds real value to the traditional 
approach of plan making.  This longer timeframe also offers the opportunity to take account of 
and harness the benefits that will come with long term infrastructure investment such as the 
Oxford-Cambridge Expressway. 

Page 48



 

 

5.0 Timetable, key milestones and procedures 
 

5.1 The Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal commits the parties of the JSSP to a high level 
timetable for its production.  The deal milestones for the JSSP are as follows: 

 Joint Project Board established under Section 28 – July 2018 

 Draft JSSP published for formal consultation (Reg. 19) – 31st October 2019  

 Submission of JSSP – 31st March 2020 

 JSSP Adoption (subject to examination) – 31st March 2021 
 

5.2 The procedures for developing a statutory development plan document are described in 
regulations.  There are therefore several key interim milestones to build into this timetable.  This 
results in a more detailed timetable for production of the JSSP which can summarised as follows: 

 Early Stakeholder Engagement –October 2018  

 Consultation on Preferred Strategy Options (Reg. 18) - February / March 2019 

 Consultation on Proposed Submission Draft Plan (Reg. 19) - October / November 2019 

 Submission to the Secretary of State for examination - March 2020 

 Examination - Expected September 2020 TBC 

 Receipt and Publication of Inspector’s Report - December 2020 TBC 

 Adoption - March 2021 (subject to examination) TBC 
 
5.3  It is important to recognise that once the JSSP has been submitted to the Secretary of State 

(Planning Inspectorate), the responsibility for the timetable of the examination is no longer under 
the control of the plan makers but determined by the appointed Inspector.  As such the later 
milestones are estimations based on experience of these processes and are not fixed through the 
Growth Deal agreement. 

 
5.4 As required in the regulations, a Local Development Scheme (LDS) has been drawn up to set out 

and make public the timeline for the production of the JSSP. Each local authority will adopt the 
JSSP LDS.  This will be adopted in addition to their own LDS which sets out the local plans 
authorities will be producing.  

 
5.5 Another requirement of the regulations is the production of a Statement of Community 

Involvement (SCI) to set out the ways in which the plan making body will involve and consult with 
the public and stakeholders through the project.  An SCI for the JSSP has been produced and this 
will also be adopted by each authority and will stand alongside their own SCIs. 

 
5.6 The decision making bodies for the JSSP production are the five local planning authorities (see 

section 9 on governance).  The individual Councils will be asked to formally approve JSSP 
documents as follows: 

 Approve LDS – September 2018 

 Approve SCI (following consultation) – December 2018 

 Approve JSSP Preferred Options Document for consultation (Reg 18) – January 2019 

 Approve Submission draft JSSP for consultation (Reg 19) and submission to SoS – 
September 2019 

 Adopt JSSP – March 2021 (subject to examination) 
 
5.7 The JSSP timetable is ambitious and reflects the commitment of the parties involved to delivering 

change for Oxfordshire.  In order to keep to this ambitious timetable, and underline the joint 
Page 49



working approach taken, the individual authorities have agreed to hold co-ordinated council 
meetings at the above stages.  All authorities will hold the relevant meetings within the same 
week (as far as possible) and consider a joint report from the JSSP project team. 

 
 

6.0 Proposed structure of the JSSP 
 
6.1      It is anticipated that the structure of the document will comprise the following elements:  

(a) Introduction – Setting out the purpose of the document, Oxfordshire in a wider context, policy 
framework – the relationship of the JSSP to other documents and plans and the functional 
housing and economic market area.  

(b) Spatial Portrait- setting  a spatial context for the county and identifying issues and 
opportunities to be considered in the JSSP 

(c) Vision and Objectives – linked to the Sustainability Appraisal and evidence base. 
(d) Spatial Strategy - overall quantum of development for housing and employment together with 

strategic development locations and opportunities and the necessary strategic infrastructure 
to support this, including a key diagram  

(e) Delivery and monitoring – to include phasing of development, review mechanisms, 
monitoring, funding arrangements etc.  

 
6.2 Early work on the JSSP will focus on the vision and objectives for the plan including the vision for 

Oxfordshire in 2050.  The early stakeholder engagement will focus on these aspects; they will also 
form part of the first round of formal consultation (Regulation 18 - February 2019) which will also 
test options for the Spatial Strategy.  A clear vision is key to engaging the wider community in the 
project and objectives form a vital part of the Sustainability Appraisal process for the plan and will 
help test the effectiveness of the project. 

 
 

7.0 Supporting evidence base 
 
7.1 A bespoke evidence base will be required to support the JSSP.  The list below gives an indication of 

the pieces of technical work that will be required as part of this evidence base.  This list is not 
exhaustive; more pieces of work may become relevant or apparent as the project progresses.  
Some of these pieces of work already exist and can be relied on for the purposes of the JSSP with 
no or only minor updates.   This list will be reviewed throughout the project as work progresses: 

a)  Oxfordshire Local Housing Need calculation 
b)  Economic forecasting and job growth calculation 
c)  Transport strategy, assessment and modelling  
d)  Sustainability Appraisal  
e)  Habitat Regulations Assessment 
f)  Green Belt Review/Assessment 
g)  Other infrastructure assessments/update of OXIS 
h)  Flood Risk Assessment 
i)  Natural Capital Assessment (including biodiversity) 
 

7.2 These studies will be collected in various ways to ensure that the evidence base is both robust and 
proportionate (at the appropriate level of detail), and that this is done in a cost-effective way.  For 
example each authority already has a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA), these are carried 
out to an established methodology and as such it may not be necessary to prepare a joint SFRA.  
However, other studies will require review and updating, and some new studies will need to be 
commissioned from specialist consultants.  Where consultants are commissioned all draft briefs 

Page 50



will be reviewed and approved by officers of each district ahead of the competition process.  
Capacity funding from the Housing and Growth Deal is available to fund studies. 

 
7.3 A Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment is one of a number of studies which will 

support the development of the JSSP. The JSSP Team and the partner authorities will be running a 
‘Call for Sites’ as part of the plan process seeking submission identifying sites and broad locations 
for strategic scale housing and economic development within Oxfordshire. The sites and broad 
locations identified by the Call for Sites will be assessed for their suitability for development and 
will form part of the evidence base to demonstrate the supply of development land for the period 
to 2050 in the Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment. 

 

8.0 Links to other work programmes  
 

 The Oxfordshire Local Industrial Strategy. Oxfordshire has been invited by central 
government to develop a local industrial strategy and to build an ambitious programme for 
long-term economic growth that will guide a step-change in how the County Council thinks 
about economic growth and investment. It is important that the JSSP Team continue to work 
with the LIS Team to explore how the two workstreams can be integrated and aligned to 
capitalise on synergies and to support Oxfordshire’s growth. This will include exploring key 
growth locations for Oxfordshire’s development that can form part of the LIS and also 
discussing the key barriers and opportunities around delivering strategic sites. 

 

 Oxfordshire Local Transport Plan. Oxfordshire County Council is working on a refresh of their 
Local Transport Plan (LTP4) that will take a fresh look at a transport vision, goals and 
objectives for the County. There is a need to ensure alignment between this and the JSSP to 
ensure that decisions are made that are correct for the County to guide its future growth. 

 

 Oxford to Cambridge Corridor. Alongside the autumn budget 2017, the Government 
published its overarching vision for the Oxford-Cambridge Corridor as an initial response to 
the recommendations of the National Infrastructure Commission. The NIC identified an area 
that has the potential to be the UK’s Silicon Valley nurturing innovative industries and 
promoting economic growth in the national interest also recognising that unaffordable 
housing is acting as a brake to economic growth. It recommended that a shared vision for the 
corridor is established and that work will need to plan for capturing its economic potential; 
place-making, including housing, cultural and community ambitions; and connectivity and 
infrastructure including new investments in and the opportunities presented by East West Rail 
and the Oxford to Cambridge Expressway.  The JSSP has an essential role to play in responding 
positively to these recommendations and addressing these criteria and will need to contribute 
positively to a cross corridor vision.  Highways England are now taking forward more detailed 
development of the Expressway proposals and have identified three potential broad corridors 
for its route which affect Oxfordshire in different ways. The JSSP needs to consider the current 
proposals and in turn the final preferred corridor when it is published in Autumn 2018 and 
detailed route option in 2019. 

 

9.0     Governance arrangements  
 
9.1 The JSSP is a core work stream of the Oxfordshire Growth Board as part of the Housing and 

Growth Deal, yet the decision making bodies for the production of a plan are the five districts as 
Local Planning Authorities.  This section seeks sets out the emerging governance arrangements for 
the project.  

 

Page 51



 
9.2 The Growth Deal commits to the establishment of a Joint JSSP Project Board to take forward the 

project under Section 28 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004).  Section 28 of the 
Act provides the means for more than one Local Planning Authority to jointly produce a Local 
Development Document (the JSSP).  While formal decision making power resides with the 
individual Local Planning Authorities arrangements can be set up under Section 28 to help the 
Councils coordinate the preparation of the JSSP. 

 
9.3 Two groups will be set up to help guide the preparation of the JSSP, a Member sub-group, made 

up of Elected Members, and an officer project board made up of senior officers. 
 
9.4 Member sub-group:  

  Made up of members from the Districts and a County observer 

  Will provide political advice and input into the work of the JSSP project team 

  Representatives of the Statutory Agencies will be invited to participate in meetings as the 
agenda requires their advice and input 

  Not a decision making group but will make recommendations to the Growth Board and to 
the individual Local Planning Authorities  

  Meet on average quarterly with flexible programme to reflect the JSSP work programme 

  Meet after the Officer Project Board 
 
9.5 Officer Project Board:  

 Made up of the relevant Heads of Service of the District Councils, including the JSSP Project 
Sponsor,  the Growth Deal Workstream Lead, and representatives of Oxfordshire County 
Council, OxLEP, MHCLG, Homes England and other relevant bodies as required.   

 Meet on average quarterly with flexible programme to reflect work programme 

 Meet ahead of the Member Sub Group 
 

9.6 Provisional work programme and meeting dates: 

 September 18 – as part of the September project launch  

 November 18 – help to refine the Regulation 18 document; discuss the jobs numbers and 
housing numbers for the plan period  

 February 19 – during Regulation 18 consultation; start exploring the spatial expression of 
the numbers 

 May 19 – help to refine the Regulation 19 document and prepare for the consultation 

 October 19 – review consultation outcomes and refine the proposed Submission Draft Plan 

 February 19 review of consultation outcomes on the proposed Submission Draft Plan 
 

9.7 The table below identifies of the invitees to the two groups that make up the JSSP Project Board: 
  

Officer Project Board 

Partner Officer Responsibility 

West Oxfordshire 
DC 

Giles Hughes Project Sponsor - Overall 
responsibility for ensuring that the 
project meets its objectives and 
delivers the projected benefits. 
In addition same responsibilities as 
other Heads of Service. 

Growth Deal Deal Director Provide direction and support for 
the JSSP Project Team and the link 
to the Growth Deal / Board. 

Page 52



Oxford City Council Patsy Dell Provide direction for the JSSP 
Project Team and the link to the 
corporate decision making 
processes of the Local Planning 
Authorities. 

Cherwell DC Adrian Colwell 

South Oxfordshire 
and Vale DCs 

Adrian Duffield 

Oxfordshire County 
Council (Observer) 

Rachel Wileman Provide advice and observations, 
and coordination with wider 
Growth Deal activity OxLEP (Observer) tbc 

Homes England 
(Observer) 

tbc 

MHCLG (Observer) tbd 

Member Sub-group 

Partner Member Responsibility 

Cherwell DC Cllr Colin Clarke Will provide political advice and 
input into the work of the JSSP 
project team.  
 
Not a decision making group but 
will make recommendations to the 
Growth Board and to the individual 
Local Planning Authorities. 

Oxford City Cllr Alex Hollingsworth 

South Oxfordshire 
DC 

Cllr Will Hall 
Sub all con group 
members 

Vale of White Horse 
DC 

Cllr Anthony Hayward 
Sub- all con group 
members 

West Oxfordshire DC Cllr James Mills (Chair) 
Cllr Jeff Haine 
Sub Cllr Toby Morris 

Oxfordshire County 
Council (Observer) 

Cllr Fox –Davies 
Sub Cllr Jeanette Matelot 

 
 
JSSP Liaison Group 
9.8 Work on the JSSP to date has been carried out by the Interim Project Team.  This group is made up 

of a planning officer representative from each of the partner and observing bodies and has been 
meeting regularly to put in place the various project management documents and arrangements 
required to initiate the JSSP project.  This work means that the JSSP Project Team is able to start 
from a good position with much of the scoping, project planning, and statutory requirements well 
underway. 

 
9.9 With the establishment of a dedicated JSSP Project Team, it is proposed that the interim team, 

with their well established relationships and working arrangements is retained but adapts to form 
a Liaison Group for the project.  This group would continue meeting on a regular basis but with a 
changed role, advising and performing a liaison function with the constituent authorities.  The 
table below identifies members of the liaison group. 

 

JSSP Reference / Liaison Group 

Partner Officer Responsibility 

Cherwell DC Alan Munn 
 

Members of the Liaison Group will 
meet regularly to provide the key 
link between the JSSP Project 
Team and the authorities.  They 
will bring key messages from their 
organisations to the JSSP Project 
Team and provide feedback to the 

West Oxon DC Andrew Thompson 
 

South Oxon DC Holly Jones 
 

Vale WH DC Andrew Maxted 
Page 53



 Project Team on proposals and 
plans based on discussions within 
their organisations.  They will help 
develop the agenda for the Officer 
Project Board and Member Sub 
Group meetings. 

Oxford City  Richard Wyatt /Rachel Nixon 
 

Oxfordshire CC Amanda Jacobs 
 

 
 

10.0 Engagement and communication 
 
10.1 It will be important to ensure that stakeholders are kept up to date with progress on the JSSP and 

have the opportunity to feed into the project.  The SCI sets out the general approach to 
engagement and consultation.  Formal consultation periods will be held at two key stages, 
Regulation 18 (February 2019) and Regulation 19 (October 2019). 

 
10.2 Communications should be proactive, positive and high profile to reflect the wishes of the Board 

that public engagement and knowledge of the JSSP is at a high level. The project team will seek to 
maximise the use of digital channels for engagement, for example: 

 Advertising- for example of key events 

 Social Media 

 Develop an interactive and engaging JSSP website, including a consultation portal 

 Commission highly professional video(s) to demonstrate the message on the website 

 Ensure that the opportunities on each partners website are maximised and that there is 
clear signposting to the JSSP website 

 
10.3 The Growth Board has agreed the appointment of a JSSP communications and engagement officer 

to work as a key element of the JSSP project team.  The communications and engagement officer 
will work up a strategy for these areas of work once in post. 

 
 

11.0     JSSP Project Team Structure  
 
11.1 The JSSP Project Team will be responsible for co-ordinating and producing the work on the JSSP.  

Resources will come from 3 main sources: 

 Core team recruited/seconded through the Growth Deal 

 Resources from the partner bodies (more specific task related and including the input of 
the Liaison Group) 

 Commissioned advice/expertise from external sources 
 
11.2 A dedicated team resource is to be recruited to the project who will be able to fully focus on 

producing the work required.  This team will be managed by Rachel Williams as JSSP Workstream 
Lead and will be structured as follows: 

 JSSP Lead – Rachel Williams 

 4 FTE planners – at a range of scales/grades 

 1 Apprentice Planner 

 1 FTE Communication Officer (already agreed as part of Growth Deal budget) 

 1 FTE Project Admin Support 

 
 
 

Page 54



   

 

Appendix 4 

Oxfordshire housing and growth deal 

Outstanding matters for the Vale 

MATTERS WHICH ARE NOT NEGOTIABLE 

Item Commentary 

Scope of joint statutory spatial plan 
(JSSP) must be agreed by cabinet and 
full council. 

This can be arranged for a suitable 
meeting, full council is provisionally to be 
held on 18 July 2018. 

Substantive work on the JSSP (for 
example, commissioning of evidence) is 
not to begin until the government has 
finalised the new National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) and published 
a written ministerial statement 
establishing the Oxfordshire planning 
freedoms and flexibilities. 

The timetabling dependency is already 
built into the delivery plan.  Assuming 
NPPF is published according to 
government timetable, a JSSP 
programme board will be established in 
July under s28 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.   
The delivery plan is clear that there is no 
penalty on Oxfordshire councils if the 
JSSP timetable slips as a consequence 
of delays in the government’s NPPF 
timetable. 
The scale of early preparatory work on 
the JSSP will need to be agreed by all 
partners.  No work should be done to 
gather an evidence base until the scope 
of the JSSP has been formally agreed. 

The JSSP will not allocate housing sites. This will be a matter for agreement 
among the partner authorities when the 
scope of the JSSP is defined.  The JSSP 
will need to take account of existing local 
plans in order to avoid duplication or 
inconsistency. 

Annual housing targets, trajectories and 
objectively assessed need (OAN) may 
not be increased for any year in the life of 
the current local plan (to 2031); nor may 
land supply and housing delivery 
calculations be based on higher 
baselines than those already built into the 
adopted local plan. 

These figures are already in the adopted 
Local Plan Part 1 and they remain within 
the council’s sovereign control unless 
overturned by an inspector or by some 
aspect of the new NPPF.   
The introduction of joint spatial planning 
should not be seen by other local 
planning authorities as an opportunity to 
seek revision of the Vale’s existing plan 
numbers. 

The council will only accept liability for 
any claw-back of funds arising from 
mismanagement by the Vale of White 
Horse District Council. 

The delivery plan already states that 
“claw-back of funding will be in the event 
of financial mismanagement / 
inappropriate spending.”  Assurance can 
be gained from establishing a robust 
governance structure for the growth deal, 
including an inter-authority agreement. 

Page 55



MATTERS WHICH ARE FOR CLARIFICATION 

Item Commentary 

What metrics are to be used for housing 
delivery to achieve the infrastructure 
funding? 

This is stated in the delivery plan.  
Government will expect the indicative 
milestones for housing completions / 
starts each year to be achieved.  Note 
that these delivery plan targets are set at 
county-wide level. 

What is the period for which a three year 
housing land supply to be applied? 

This is stated in the delivery plan.  From 
commencement of the s28 process to 
adoption of the JSSP (planned for March 
2021), a three year land supply will be 
applied in Oxfordshire.  This will be 
subject to local consultation alongside 
the national consultation on the NPPF. 
The new NPPF is expected to offer the 
opportunity to have the housing land 
supply agreed on an annual basis and 
fixed for a one-year period, so it should 
be possible to extend this freedom for 
(almost) a year beyond the adoption of 
the JSSP. 

What is the bespoke housing delivery 
test and for what period will it apply? 

The delivery plan states that the bespoke 
housing delivery test will apply for three 
years following submission of the JSSP 
(planned for March 2020).  The detail of 
the test is not defined at this stage: the 
expectation is that the Oxfordshire 
growth team will informally agree a 
bespoke test with MHCLG officials and it 
will then be subject to local consultation 
alongside the national consultation on the 
NPPF. 

Will the land supply and housing delivery 
tests be applied at county or district 
level? 

Although the detail of the housing 
delivery test cannot be finalised at this 
point (see above), MHCLG officials have 
given written confirmation that there will 
be no requirement for it to operate at a 
county-wide level. 

What is the impact of any new, lower 
OAN figure on the three year housing 
land supply test? 

We expect that the new NPPF will use 
adopted local plan targets (where they 
exist) rather than OAN as the baseline for 
the housing land supply test.  
Confirmation will have to await its 
publication. 

 

Page 56



Addendum report 

Oxfordshire Joint Spatial Plan 

1. As part of making minor and presentational changes, the Head of Planning, in 

consultation and agreement with the other district councils, proposes the following 

changes to the Local Development Scheme and Scoping document. 

 

2. Local Development Scheme 

 

3. Scoping Document 

Para. Existing text Proposed change 

3.7 The JSSP’s strategic policies will 
cover the following matters: 

The JSSP’s strategic policies (in 
accordance with the definition in the 
NPPF) will cover the following matters: 
 

3.10 Whilst the JSSP will determine 
the spatial strategy and strategic 

Whilst the JSSP will determine the 
spatial strategy and strategic growth 

Para. Existing text Proposed change 

3. The LDS will be revised as 
necessary and rolled forward…… 

The LDS will be revised in 
agreement with each council as 
necessary and rolled forward…… 

7. the documents which are to be 
Development Plan Documents 

the local development documents 
which are to be development plan 
documents 

 the subject matter and 
geographical area to which each 
Development Plan Document is 
to relate; 
 

the subject matter and geographical 
area to which each development 
plan document is to relate; 
 

 which documents are to be 
development plan documents 
 

which documents are to be 
development plan documents 

 which Development Plan 
Documents are to be prepared 
jointly with one or more other 
local planning authorities; 
 

which development plan documents 
are to be prepared jointly with one or 
more other local planning authorities; 
 

 any matter or area in respect of 
which the authorities have agreed 
(or propose to agree) to the 
constitution of a joint committee 

any matter or area in respect of 
which the authorities have agreed (or 
propose to agree) to the constitution 
of a joint committee under section 
29 

 the timetable for the preparation 
and revision of the Development 
Plan Documents; and 
 

the timetable for the preparation and 
revision of the development plan 
documents; and 
 

Page 57



growth locations it is unlikely to 
allocate sites. 

areas, it will not allocate sites except 
at the request of the relevant local 
planning authority. 
 

3.10 The following diagram is taken 
from the West of England Plan 
as one example of how this 
could be illustrated. 
 
Key diagram illustration 
 

The following diagram is taken from the 
West of England Plan as one example 
of how this could be illustrated. 
 
Remove Key Diagram illustration 

6.1 
(d) 

Spatial Strategy – overall 
quantum of development for 
housing and employment 
together with strategic 
development locations and 
opportunities and the necessary 
strategic infrastructure to support 
this, including a key diagram. 
 

Spatial Strategy – overall quantum of 
development for housing and 
employment together with strategic 
development areas of search and the 
necessary strategic infrastructure to 
support this, including a key diagram. 
 
 

7.1 
(a) 

Oxfordshire Local Housing Need 
calculation 

Oxfordshire Local Housing Need 
calculation in accordance with the 
new methodology set out in the 
NPPF 
 

8.0 Highways England are now 
taking forward more detailed 
development of the Expressway 
proposals and have identified 
three potential board corridors 
for its route which affect 
Oxfordshire in different ways 

Highways England are now taking 
forward more detailed development of 
the Expressway proposals and have 
identified corridor route B and sub-
routes B1 and B3 three potential board 
corridors for its route which affect 
Oxfordshire in different ways 
 

9.6 September 18 – as part the 
project launch 

November 18 – as part of the project 
launch 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



Cabinet Report 
 

Report of Head of Planning 

Author: Sam Townley 

Telephone: 01235 422600 

Textphone: 18001 01235 422600 

E-mail: sam.townley@southandvale.gov.uk  

To Cabinet - 5 October 2018 

 

  

Making the Radley Neighbourhood 

Development Plan 

That Cabinet recommends to Council: 

1. To make the Radley Neighbourhood Development Plan so that it continues to be part 
of the council’s development plan. 

2. To delegate to the Head of Planning, in agreement with the Qualifying Body, the 
correction of any spelling, grammatical, typographical or factual errors together with 
any improvements from a presentational perspective. 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. To update the Cabinet on progress of the Radley Neighbourhood Development Plan 
and to present the relevant considerations in relation to whether this plan should be 
made (formally adopted). 

Corporate Objectives  

2. Strongly supporting the development of neighbourhood plans for our towns and 
villages. 

Background 

3. Radley successfully applied for its parish area to be designated as Neighbourhood 
Area under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations (2012).  

4. The preparation of the plan was led by the parish council (the qualifying body) and a 
group of volunteers from the local community.  

5. Following the formal submission of the plan to the council, the plan was publicised and 
comments were invited from the public and stakeholders.  

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 59

Agenda Item 8



6. The council appointed Mr. Andrew Ashcroft to examine the Radley Neighbourhood 
Plan. Examiners are tasked with reviewing whether the plan meets the basic conditions 
required by legislation and whether it should proceed to referendum. The examiner’s 
report for Radley concluded that the plan meets the basic conditions, and that subject 
to the modifications proposed in the report, the plan should proceed to referendum.  

7. The examiner’s modifications are largely minor in nature; re-wording and restructuring 
for clarity and to ensure the basic conditions are met. More significant modifications 
recommended by the examiner include: 

(a) Deletion of Policy PP1, which supported development of the Old Coal Yard 
site to the west of Thrupp Lane. The examiner was not satisfied that the 
development of the site contributed towards the achievement of sustainable 
development in the neighbourhood area, or that it complied with paragraph 89 
of the NPPF. 

(b) Modifying the wording of Policy PP4 (Housing size and type at large-scale 
sites) to ensure the policy has the level of clarity required by the NPPF and 
that the supporting text is factually correct.  

(c) Deletion of Policy PP9 (Primary Healthcare), replaced as a community action 
 
8. Having considered the examiner’s recommendations and reasons for them the Leader 

of the Council decided on 9 July 2018:  
1. To accept all modifications recommended by the examiner;  
2. To determine that the Radley Neighbourhood Development Plan, as modified, 

meets the basic conditions, is compatible with the Convention rights, complies 
with the definition of a neighbourhood development plan (NDP) and the 
provisions that can be made by a NDP;  

3. To take all appropriate actions to progress the Radley Neighbourhood 
Development Plan to referendum. A date for the referendum is set for 13 
September 2018. The referendum area should not extend beyond the 
neighbourhood area as designated by the District Council on 17 June 2015. 
 

9. The modifications to the plan were made and the referendum version of the Radley 
Neighbourhood Plan was published on 1 August 2018 alongside the decision 
statements required under Regulation 18(2)(a) of the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations (2012).   

Options 

10. The council’s options are limited by statute. Paragraph 38A (4)(a) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets out that the council must ‘make’ a neighbourhood 
plan if more than half of those voting at the referendum have voted in favour of the plan 
being used to help decide planning applications in the plan area.   

11. The only circumstance where the district council should not make this decision is where 
the making of the plan would breach, or would otherwise be incompatible with, any EU 
obligation or any of the Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 
1998).   

12. Section 3 of the Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017, which came into force on 19 July 
2017, amends section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 to 
ensure that neighbourhood plans have full legal effect once they have passed their 
local referenda. In the very limited circumstances that the council might decide not to 

Page 60



make the neighbourhood development plan, it will cease to be part of the development 
plan for the area. 

13. The council’s decision on 9 July 2018 (referred to in paragraph 7), published in the 
decision statement issued on 1 August 2018 (referred to in paragraph 8), confirmed 
that the Radley Neighbourhood Development Plan, as modified by the Examiner’s 
recommendations, would not breach, and be otherwise incompatible with EU 
obligations or human rights legislation. 

14. As the majority of those voting have voted in favour of the Radley Neighbourhood Plan 
being used to help decide planning applications in the plan area, and the making of the 
plan would not breach, or would otherwise be incompatible with any EU obligation or 
any of the Convention rights, to not make the plan would be in breach of statutory 
provisions. 

Referendum 

15. A referendum relating to the adoption of the Radley Neighbourhood Development Plan 
was held on Thursday 13 September 2018. 

16. The question that was asked in the Referendum was: “Do you want Vale of White 
Horse District Council to use the Neighbourhood Plan for Radley to help it decide 
planning applications in the neighbourhood area?” 

17.  The result was as follows: 

a. Yes = 455 votes (87%)  

b. No = 68 votes (13%) 

c. Turnout = 29.01% 

18.  The majority of local electors voted in favour of the plan; therefore, the Radley 
Neighbourhood Plan has become part of the council’s development plan.  

19. As the plan was approved at the local referendum and the council is satisfied it would 
not breach and be otherwise incompatible with EU obligations or human rights 
legislation, the council is required make the Radley Neighbourhood Development Plan 
so that it continues to be part of the council’s development plan.  

Financial Implications 

20.  Any financial implications can be accommodated within the existing planning budget. 

Legal Implications 

21. The decision to ‘make’ the Radley Neighbourhood Plan is a legal requirement in the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  The only circumstance where the 
district council should not make this decision is where the making of the plan would 
breach, or would otherwise be incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the 
Convention rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998).  There is a 
requirement that the district council will publish a formal decision statement as required 
under the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012. 

Page 61



22. It is not considered that the Radley Neighbourhood Development Plan would breach, or 
would otherwise be incompatible with, any such obligation or rights.  Therefore, the 
council should now proceed to make these plans. 

Risks 

23. The council is required to comply with the statutory requirements (to consider whether 
the Radley Neighbourhood Development Plan should be made following successful 
local referendum), which this recommendation seeks to achieve. In view of the 
considerations referred to elsewhere in this report, as the majority of those voting have 
voted in favour of the plan at its local referendum, a decision not to make the plan 
would place the council at risk of a legal challenge. 

Conclusion 

24. On 9 July 2018, Council decided to:  
1. To accept all modifications recommended by the examiner;  
2. To determine that the Radley Neighbourhood Development Plan, as modified, 

meets the basic conditions, is compatible with the Convention rights, complies 
with the definition of a neighbourhood development plan (NDP) and the 
provisions that can be made by a NDP;  

3. To take all appropriate actions to progress the Radley Neighbourhood 
Development Plan to referendum. A date for the referendum is set for 13 
September 2018. The referendum area should not extend beyond the 
neighbourhood area as designated by the District Council on 17 June 2015. 
 

25. The local referendum was held on 13 September 2018 to meet the requirements of The 
Localism Act 2011 and The Neighbourhood Planning (Referendums) Regulations 
2012.   

26. As the plan was approved at the local referendum and the council is satisfied it would 
not breach and be otherwise incompatible with EU obligations or human rights 
legislation, it is recommended that the council make the Radley Neighbourhood 
Development Plan so that it continues to be part of the council’s development plan.  

 

 

Background Papers 

None 

Page 62



 

 1 

 

Joint Audit and Governance 

Committee  

 

 
Report of Head of Finance/Senior Business Partner (Capita) 

Author: William Jacobs/Richard Spraggett (Capita) 

Telephone: 01235 422480/01235 422505 

Textphone: 18001 01235 422480/18001 01235 422505 

E-mail: William.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk 

richard.spraggett@southandvale.gov.uk 

SODC cabinet member responsible: Councillor David Dodds 

Telephone: 01844 212891 

E-mail: david.dodds @southoxon.gov.uk 

VWHDC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Robert Sharp 

Telephone: 01367 710549 

E-mail: robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

To: Joint Audit and Governance Committee, Cabinet and Council 

DATE: 27 September 2018 by Joint Audit and Governance Committee 

            4 October 2018 (S) / 5 October 2018 (V) by Cabinet 

           11 October 2018 (S) / 10 October 2018 (V) by Council 

  

 

Treasury Outturn 2017-18 
  

That Joint Audit and Governance Committee: 

1.  notes the treasury management outturn report 2017/18,  

2.  is satisfied that the treasury activities are carried out in accordance with the 
treasury management strategy and policy, and 

3.  make any comments and recommendations to Cabinets as necessary.  

That Cabinet: 

Considers any comments from Joint Audit and Governance Committee and 
recommends Council to: 

1. approve the treasury management outturn report for 2017/18; 

2. approve the actual 2017/18 prudential indicators within the report. 

Page 63

Agenda Item 9

mailto:William.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:richard.spraggett@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:jane.murphy@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


 

 2 

 

Purpose of report 

1. This report fulfils the legislative requirements to ensure the adequate monitoring 
and reporting of the treasury management activities and that the councils’ 
prudential indicators are reported to the councils at the end of the year.  The report 
provides details of the treasury activities for the financial year 2017/18. 

2. This complies with the requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA’s) Code of Practice on Treasury Management (revised) 
2009. 

Strategic objectives 

3. Effective treasury management is required to help the councils meet their strategic 
objectives. 

 
Background 

4. The councils’ treasury activities are strictly regulated by legislation.  The CIPFA 
Prudential Code and CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice require a 
report to be provided to the councils at the end of the financial year.   

5. This report provides details on the treasury activity and performance for 2017/18 
against prudential indicators and benchmarks set for the year in the 2017/18 
Treasury Management Strategy (TMS), approved by each council in February 
2017.  Each council is required to approve this report. 

6. Link Asset Services are the councils’ retained treasury advisors.   

7. On 1 August 2016, the operational treasury management staff were outsourced to 
Capita.  The executive decision making function remains with the head of finance. 

8. There are three types of investment, the performance of which is covered in this 
report 

a. True treasury investments – these investments are primarily for generating 
interest for the councils. Examples of these are loans to banks or other local 
authorities. It also includes investments in property funds. 

b. Non-treasury loans – these are loans to third parties, which earn a return, 
but they do not fall under the strict definition of a treasury investment.   

c. Property investments - both councils have investment properties let on 
commercial basis. The primary purpose of holding these assets is for 
investment purposes and they are not part of regeneration schemes.      

9. The councils continue to invest with regard for security, liquidity and yield, in that 
order.   

 

 

Page 64



 

 3 

 

Economic conditions and factors effecting investment returns 
during 2017/18 

10. UK bank base rates were increased to 0.50 per cent in November 2017, having 
been at an historic low of 0.25 per cent since August 2016.  Link Asset Services 
provide a regular forecast of interest rates and the latest forecast is reproduced in 
appendix A.  This forecast shows that base rates are expected to rise in 
November 2018, with three further increases over the next two years. An increase 
in inflationary pressures is likely and this, coupled with rising wage inflation, would 
mean more consumer spending power and therefore a rise in interest rates.  

11. The TMS makes clear that investment priority is given to the security of principal in 
the first instance.  As a result, investments have only been made with 
counterparties of high credit quality and low risk. Since the global banking crisis 
and the downgrading of the credit ratings of many banks, it has become 
increasingly difficult to place money at competitive rates, as institutions with high 
credit ratings have been offering lower rates.  

12. Average treasury investment balances were higher for both councils than expected 
in the year.  This arose from a combination of accumulated revenue and capital 
surpluses/slippage and unbudgeted grant receipts. More cash to invest has been a 
factor in the surplus of treasury investment income over budget in the year.  This 
was also the case in 2016/17. 

13. Investments that have helped to keep yields up for both councils include longer 
term investments taken out when rates were higher, such as the CCLA property 
fund at both councils, and the unit trusts at South.  

14. Outlook for 2018/19 – as discussed above, interest rates are expected to rise over 
the next three years.  In order to reduce risk, efforts are being made to rebalance 
the treasury portfolio to reduce the value held by building societies.  Other 
counterparties considered are other councils, housing associations and treasury 
bills. 

Summary of investment activities during 2017/18 

15. Prudential limits (security).  Both councils are required by the Prudential Code to 
report on the limits set each year in the TMS.  The purpose of these limits is to 
ensure that the activity of the treasury function remains within certain parameters, 
thereby mitigating risk and reducing the impact of an adverse movement in interest 
rates.  However, if these limits are set to be too restrictive they may impair the 
opportunities to reduce costs/improve performance.  These limits are shown in 
appendix B. 

16. The benchmark for liquidity is the Weighted Average Life (WAL) of treasury 
investments in days, which sets an indicator for how long investments should be 
made. Both councils were well within the acceptable ranges for WAL as set out in 
the TMS for 2017/18. The benchmarks for liquidity are set to ensure that sufficient 
funds can be accessed at short notice. These are set as targets and not definitive 
limits.     

17. Yield - the performance of the two councils is summarised in the tables below.   

Page 65



 

 4 

 

  

South Treasury 
investments 

£000 

Non 
treasury 

loan    
£000 

Sub 
Total 
£000 

Property 
investment 

£000 

Overall 
total £000 

1 
Average investment 
balance 134,465  15,000  149,465  5,075  154,540  

2 
Budgeted investment 
income 1,579  623  2,202      

3 Actual investment income 1,938  623  2,561  401  2,962  

4 surplus/(deficit)  (3) - (2) 359  0  359      

5 Rate of return  (3) ÷ (1) 1.44% 4.15% 1.71% 7.90% 1.92% 

 

 

18. Both councils have exceeded their treasury budgeted investment income this year 
in terms of both actual income against budget and rates of return against 
benchmark.  More detail on benchmarks is included in the appendices that follow 
this report.  

19. Capita manages the councils’ treasury investments and cash flow on a daily basis.  
During 2017/18, Arcadis looked after the councils’ short to medium term property 
investments.   

20. Detailed reports on the treasury activities for each council and performance for 
2017/18 against prudential indicators and benchmarks set for the year in the 
2017/18 are contained in appendix C – South Oxfordshire DC and appendix D – 
Vale of White Horse DC.   

21. A detailed list of both councils’ treasury investments as at 31 March 2018 is shown 
at appendix E. 

Debt activity during 2017/18 

22. During 2017/18, there has not been a need for either council to borrow and both 
councils continue to take a prudent approach to their debt strategy.  The prudential 
indicators and limits set out in appendix B provide the scope and flexibility for the 
Council to borrow in the short-term, if such a need arose, for cash flow purposes to 
support the council(s) in the achievement of their service objectives.     

Financial implications 

23. The treasury investments made in 2017/18 ensured that both councils exceeded 
their budgeted targets for treasury investment income.  Income earned from 
investments supports the councils’ medium term financial plans and contributes to 
the councils’ balances, or supports the in-year expenditure programmes.    

Vale Treasury 

investments 

£000

Property 

investment      

£000

Overall 

total 

£000

1 Average investment balance 64,464 8,442 72,906 

2 Budgeted investment income 346 

3 Actual investment income 610 532 1,142 

4 surplus/(deficit)  (3) - (2) 264 

5 Rate of return  (3) ÷ (1) 0.95% 6.30% 1.57%

Page 66



 

 5 

 

24. Looking forward, income is anticipated to remain stable with any increase due to 
ongoing surplus cash balances and rises in market rates offset by a general 
reduction in the balances available to invest.  This will be reflected in the councils’ 
2019/20 budgets and medium term financial plans. 

Legal implications 

25. There are no significant legal implications.  Compliance with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Services and the DCLG Local 
Government Investment Guidance provides assurance that the councils’ 
investments are, and will continue to be, within their legal powers. 

Conclusion 

26. Despite a difficult operating environment, both councils continued to make 
investments during 2017/18 that maintained security and liquidity whilst providing a 
return that exceeded market benchmarks.     

Background papers 

• Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accounting (CIPFA) code of practice 
for treasury management in the public sector. 

• DCLG Local Government Investment Guidance 

• CIPFA treasury management in the public services code of practice and cross 
sectoral guidance notes 

• Treasury Management Strategy 2017/18 – Councils in February 2017. 
 

Appendices 

A. Interest rate forecasts 
B. Prudential limits  
C. SODC – Treasury activities 2017-2018 
D. VWHDC – Treasury activities 2017-2018  
E. Treasury investments as at 31 March 2018 
F. Glossary of terms 
          

Page 67



  Appendix A 
Interest rate forecast as at May 2018  
 
The table below shows Link Asset Services’ forecast of the expected movement in 
medium term interest rates: 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

NOW Sep-18 Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19 Sep-19

BANK RATE 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00

3 month LIBID 0.60 0.70 0.90 0.90 0.90 1.10

6 month LIBID 0.70 0.80 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.20

12 month LIBID 0.80 0.90 1.10 1.10 1.20 1.30

5 yr PWLB 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.20 2.20

10 yr PWLB 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.70

25 yr PWLB 2.70 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20

50 yr PWLB 2.40 2.50 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90

Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21

BANK RATE 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.50 1.50

3 month LIBID 1.20 1.30 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.70

6 month LIBID 1.20 1.30 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.70

12 month LIBID 1.40 1.40 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.80

5 yr PWLB 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50

10 yr PWLB 2.80 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.00

25 yr PWLB 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.40 3.50 3.50

50 yr PWLB 3.00 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.20

Page 68



  Appendix B 
Prudential limits (indicators) as at March 2018 

 

Prudential indicators as at 31 March 2018           

   Vale South 

        

   

Original 
estimate 

Actual 
position 

Original 
estimate 

Actual 
position 

   £m £m £m £m 

Authorised limit for external debt       

Borrowing  30 0 30 0 

Other long term liabilities  5 0 0 0 

   35 0 30 0 

        

Operational boundary for external debt       

Borrowing  25 0 25 0 

Other long term liabilities  5 0 0 0 

   30 0 25 0 

Investments       

Interest rate exposures       

Limits on fixed interest rates  100% 85% 100% 78% 

Limits on variable interest rates  50 8 50 24 

Maximum principal sums invested > 364 days      

Upper limit for principal sums invested > 364 days 40 10 70 25 

Limit to be placed on investments to maturity       

1 - 2 years  NA NA NA NA 

2 - 5 years  NA NA NA NA 

5 years +  NA NA NA NA 

            

 
 
Prudential indicators – explanatory note 
 
Debt 
 
There are two limits on external debt: the ‘Operational Boundary’ and the ‘Authorised 
Limit’.   Both are consistent with the current commitments, existing plans and the 
proposals in the budget report for capital expenditure and financing, and with approved 
treasury management policy statement and practices.  They are both based on 
estimates of most likely, but not worst case, scenario.   

The key difference is that the Authorised Limit cannot be breached without prior 
approval of the Council.  It therefore includes more headroom to take account of 
eventualities such as delays in generating capital receipts, forward borrowing to take 
advantage of attractive interest rates, use of borrowing in place of operational leasing, 
“invest to save” projects, occasional short term borrowing to cover temporary revenue 
cash flow shortfalls as well as an assessment of risks involved in managing cash flows.   

The Operational Boundary is a more realistic indicator of the likely position. 

 
Interest rate exposures 
 
The maximum proportion of interest on borrowing which is subject to fixed/variable rate 
of interest. 
 
 

Page 69



  Appendix B 
Investments 
 
Interest rate exposure 
 
The purpose of these indicators is to set ranges that will limit exposure to interest rate 
movement. The indicator required by the Treasury Management Code considers the net 
position of borrowing and investment and is based on principal sums outstanding. 
 
Principal sums invested 
 
This indicator sets a limit on the level of investments that can be made for more than 
364 days. 

Page 70



Appendix C 

 
1 

 

          

SODC treasury activities in 2017/18 

Council treasury investments as at 31 March 2018 
 

1. The council’s treasury investments, analysed by age as at 31 March 2018 were as 
follows:  

Table 1: maturity structure of investments at 31 March 2018: 

        

        

  £000 % holding   

Call 9,335  7%   

Money market fund 3,000  2%   

Cash available within 1 week 12,335  9%   

Up to 4 months 47,000  34%     

5-6 months 6,000  4%   

6 months to 1 year 32,500  24%   

Over 1 year 20,000  15%   

Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander 222  0%   

      

Total cash deposits 118,057  86%   

      

CCLA Property Fund 6,652  5%   

Equities 11,643  9%   

      

      

Total investments 136,352  100%   

 

 

2. Most of the funds invested are held in the form of fixed interest rate and term cash 
deposits. These provide some certainty over the investment return.  

3. The investment profile is organised in order to ensure sufficient liquidity for 
revenue and capital activities, security of investments and to manage risks within 
all treasury management activities. 

4. The chart below shows in percentage terms how the portfolio above is spread 
across the investment types: 

Page 71



Appendix C 

 
2 

 

 

Treasury investment income  
 

5. The total income earned on investments during 2017/18 was £1.9 million, 
compared to the original budget of £1.6 million, as shown in table 2 below: 

Table 2:  Investment interest earned by investment type 

  Interest earned 

   Annual  Actual Variation 

Investment type  Budget    

    £000 £000 £000 

       

Fixed term and call   823 1,135 312 

Equities  456 497 41 

CCLA property fund   300 307 7 

    1,579 1,939 360 

 
 

6. The actual return achieved was £0.4 million more than the original budget. This 
was due to: 

 Interest earned on cash deposits was £0.3 million higher than forecast 
principally due to an increase in interest rates achieved during the second 
part of the financial year. 

 Dividend received on equities was £41,000 higher than forecast. 
 

7. The actual average rate of return on treasury investments for the year was 1.44 
per cent.  

 

 

 

Page 72



Appendix C 

 
3 

 

Performance measurement 

8. A list of treasury investments as at 31 March 2018 is shown in appendix E.  All 
investments were with approved counterparties.  The average level of 
investments held was £134 million. Table 3 below shows in summary the 
performance of the council’s treasury investments against the benchmarks set out 
in the TMS.  These benchmarks are used to assess and monitor the council’s 
treasury investment performance for each type of investment. 

Table 3: Treasury investment returns achieved against benchmark   

    
Benchmark 

Return 
Actual 
Return 

Growth 
(Below)/above 

Benchmark Benchmarks 

        

Bank & Building Society deposits - 
internally managed  0.29% 0.90% 0.61% 3 Month LIBID 

Equities  (2.40%) (1.69%) 0.71% FTSE All Shares Index 
Property related investments (excluding 
SOHA loan)* 

 

3.60% 6.14% 2.54% IPD balanced property 
unit trust index 

            

*source CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Report March 
2018   

 

Note: the benchmark return for unit trusts and CCLA includes the movement in 
capital value.  All other benchmarks reflect earnings of treasury investment 
income.   
 

9. Returns on Bank and building society deposits (Call accounts, money market 
funds and fixed term deposits) are benchmarked against the three-month LIBID 
rate, which was an average of 0.29 per cent for 2017/18.  The performance for the 
year of 0.90 per cent exceeded the benchmark by 0.61 per cent.   

10. It remained difficult to place investments because of continued financial 
uncertainty. Some good rates were achieved which contributed to the increase in 
investment income during the year.  

11. The CCLA property fund principal investment of £5 million (March 2013) 
increased in value during 2017/18 to £6.7 million.  Dividends received in the year 
totalled £0.3 million. Both the capital appreciation and the interest earned are 
included in the performance of 6.14 per cent achieved above.  The capital gain is 
however not realised and so for comparison purposes, the actual rate of return is 
interest as a factor of market value of holding being 4.61 per cent.  

12. The performance of 6.14 per cent for CCLA includes accruals and therefore 
creates a marginal difference between councils on the calculated return achieved. 

Equities  

13. The council’s holdings with the Legal & General (L&G) UK 100 Index Trust were 
purchased in 2000/01 at an initial cost of £10 million.  This is an authorised unit 
trust incorporated in the United Kingdom and regulated by the FSA.  The trust’s 
objective is to track the capital performance of the UK equity market as 
represented by the FTSE 100 index which represents 98-99 per cent of the UK 
market capitalisation. 

Page 73



Appendix C 

 
4 

 

14. The index shows the performance of all eligible companies listed on the London 
Stock Exchange main market and today covers 630 constituents with a combined 
value of nearly £1.8 trillion.  It is recognised as the main benchmark for unit trusts.   

Table 4: Unit Trusts - Movement in capital     

    £ £ 

Market Value as at 31.3.18   11,642,721 

       

Less:      

Dividends received in year   

          
316,500    

Accrued dividends   

          
180,000    

     

       
(496,500) 

Add:      

Disposal in year    

     
2,000,000  

       

Amended market value as at 31.3.18   13,146,221 

       

Market value as at 1.4.17    13,372,084 

       

Decrease in Market Value in year     (225,863) 

 

 
15. The decrease above is compared to the performance of the stock market as a 

whole using the benchmarking in table 5 below.  The fund’s over performance of 
0.71 per cent compared with the stock market equates to £95,067 in real terms.     

Table 5: Unit Trust performance   

      

Decrease in FTSE all share was (2.40%) 

     

Decrease in Market Value  (1.69%) 

     

Over-performance  0.71% 

      

   £ 

Market Value  1.4.17  

      
13,372,084  

     

Less 2.40% FTSE decrease 
         

(320,930) 

     

Benchmark Market Value at 31.3.18 
      

13,051,154  

     

Market Value (amended at 31.3.18) 
      

13,146,221  

     

Over performance 1.4.17 to 31.3.18 
            

95,067  

 

 

Page 74



Appendix C 

 
5 

 

 

 

16. The performance of the fund over the past few years is summarised in table 5.1 
below. 

Table 5.1 Unit Trust past 
performance 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

      

Performance against FTSE all share % 0.49% (0.46%) (0.76%) 

(Under)/Over     
Performance against FTSE all share 
£000 

              
61,163  

             
(61,601) 

            
(96,679) 

(Under)/Over     

        

 

The justification for holding this investment is regularly reviewed.   

17. Dividends received of £0.50 million were reinvested to acquire additional fund 
units.  

18. Officers monitor the performance of the unit trust holding on a regular basis.  
When the market value reaches £14 million, a disposal of £2 million is made.  
During November 2017, the value of our unit trust holding reached the £14 million 
threshold and a disposal of £2 million took place. 

 

Icelandic bank default – Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander 

19. The Council invested £2.5 million in July 2007 with the failed Icelandic bank 
Kaupthing Singer and Friedlander Ltd (KSF).  The Council has received 
£2,249,739 to date in respect of the claim for £2.6 million (£2.5 million investment 
plus interest).   

20. As a wholesale depositor, the Council is treated as an unsecured creditor in the 
administration process and ranks equally with all other unsecured creditors.  The 
administrators intend to make further payments at regular intervals.  The latest 
creditors’ report now indicates that the estimated total amount to be recovered 
should be in the range of 86.25p to 87p in the pound.  In total terms, this would 
mean receiving between £2,269,094 and £2,288,826.   

Non-treasury investment loan 

21. During 2013/14, the council entered into a secured loan agreement with SOHA to 
enable them to finance affordable housing schemes.  The Council lent £15 million 
over 20 years at a fixed rate of 4.15 per cent.  Interest is paid quarterly and during 
2017/18, the council received £0.6 million.  

Land and property 

22. The Council holds a portfolio of investment properties, which includes land, 
depots, garages, and shops that are let on a commercial basis.   These assets 
had a net book value of £5.08 million at 31 March 2018 (£5.08 million at 31 March 

Page 75



Appendix C 

 
6 

 

2017) and generated income of £0.40 million in 2017/18 (£0.24 million in 2016/17) 
giving a gross rate of return of 7.90 per cent.   

23. Due to movement in property values and the exclusion of whole life costs, these 
rates of return should not be taken as a direct comparison with the treasury rates. 

Liquidity and yield 

24. The council uses short-term investments to meet daily cash-flow requirements 
and aims to invest a proportion of the portfolio over longer dated cash deposits 
where possible.   

25. The amount maintained for liquidity was £12 million.  The 2017/18 strategy 
removed the requirement to maintain £10 million on call for liquidity purposes.  
This means officers can place more short term deposits, covering cash flows, 
which will achieve better yields for the council.   

 
 

Page 76



Appendix D 

 
1 

 

VWHDC detailed treasury performance in 2017/18 

Council treasury investments as at 31 March 2018 
 
1. The council’s treasury investments analysed by age as at 31 March 2018 were as 

follows:  
 

Table 1: maturity structure of investments at 31 March 2018: 
        
        

  £000 % holding   

Call 0  0%   

Money market fund 7,540  12%   

Cash available within 1 week 7,540  12%   

Up to 4 months 20,000  31%     

5-6 months 4,000  6%   

6 months to 1 year 21,500  34%   

Over 1 year 8,000  13%   

      

Total cash deposits 61,040  96%   
      

CCLA Property Fund 2,661  4%   
      

Total investments 63,701  100%   

 
 
2. Most of the funds invested are held in the form of fixed interest rate and term cash 

deposits.  These provide some certainty over the investment return.   

3. The investment profile is organised in order to ensure sufficient liquidity for 
revenue and capital activities, security of investments and to manage risks within 
all treasury management activities. 

4. The chart below shows in percentage terms how the portfolio above is spread 
across  investment types: 

 

Banks - UK fixed 
deposits £22,000 35%

Building societies -
fixed deposits £18,500

29%

Local authorities
£13,000 20%

Money Market Funds
£7,540

12%

CCLA £2,661 4%

Portfolio Analysis (£000)

Page 77



Appendix D 

 
2 

 

 

Treasury investment income 

5. The total interest earned on treasury investments during 2017/18 was £0.6 million 
compared to the original budget estimate of £0.3 million as shown in table 2 below: 

Table 2: Investment interest earned by investment type   

     

   Annual  Actual Variation 

Investment type  Budget Interest   

   £000 £000 £000 

Fixed term and call                 227  485  
               

258  

CCLA Property Fund                 119  125  
                    

6  

Total Interest   346  610  264  

 
6. The actual return achieved was £0.3 million higher than the original budget. This 

was primarily due to average balances throughout the year remaining higher than 
forecast.  

7. The total actual average interest rate achieved for the year was 0.95 per cent. 
 

Performance measurement 

8. A list of treasury investments as at 31 March 2018 is shown in appendix E. All 
investments were with approved counterparties. The average level of investments 
held was £64.5 million. Table 3 below shows in summary the performance of the 
council’s treasury investments against the benchmarks set out in the TMS. These 
benchmarks are used to assess and monitor the council’s treasury investment 
performance for each type of investment. 

Table 3: Treasury investment returns achieved against benchmark 

  Benchmark 
return 

Actual 
return 

Growth 
(below)/above 

Benchmark 

Benchmarks 

Internally managed - Bank & 
Building Society deposits 

0.29% 0.78% 0.49% 3 month LIBID 

Property related funds (CCLA)* 3.60% 6.24% 2.64% 

IPD balanced 
property unit trust 

index 

 *Source: CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund Report March 2018 

9. Returns on bank and building society deposits (internally managed cash deposits) 
are benchmarked against the 3-month LIBID rate, which was an average of 0.29 
per cent for 2017/18.  The performance for the year of 0.78 per cent exceeded the 
benchmark by 0.49 per cent.  

10. It remained difficult to place investments because of continued financial 
uncertainty. Some good rates were achieved which contributed to the increase in 
investment income during the year. 

Page 78



Appendix D 

 
3 

 

11. The CCLA property fund principal investment of £2 million (April 2013) increased in 
value during 2017/18 to £2.7 million.  Dividends received in the year totalled £0.1 
million. Both the capital appreciation and the interest earned are included in the 
performance of 6.24 per cent achieved above.  The capital gain is however not 
realised and so for comparison purposes, the actual rate of return is interest as a 
factor of market value of holding being 4.69 per cent.  

12. The performance of 6.24 per cent for CCLA includes accruals and therefore 
creates a marginal difference between councils on the calculated return achieved. 

Land and Property 

13. The council holds a portfolio of investment properties, which includes land, offices 
and shops that are let on a commercial basis.  These assets had a net book value 
of £8.4 million at 31 March 2018 (£8.4 million as at 31 March 2017) and generated 
income of £0.5 million (£0.5 million in 2016/17).  This is equivalent to a gross return 
of 6.30 per cent. 

14. Due to movement in property values and the exclusion of whole life costs, these 
rates of return should not be taken as a direct comparison with the treasury rates. 

Liquidity and yield 
 

15. The council uses short-term investments to meet daily cash-flow requirements and 
has also aims to invest a proportion of the portfolio over longer dated cash 
deposits where possible.   
 

16. The amount maintained for liquidity was £7.5 million and was above the 
benchmark. This was due to the better rates of return on MMFs compared with 
other short-term deposits making it more attractive to hold funds short. 

 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 79



  Appendix E 

 

South Oxfordshire District Council investments (excluding KSF) as at 31 March 2018

Counterparty Deposit Type Maturity Principal Rate

Date
Progressive Building Society Fixed Apr-18 3,500,000 0.75%

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Apr-18 2,000,000 0.92%

National Counties Building Society Fixed Apr-18 2,500,000 0.77%

Skipton Building Society Fixed Apr-18 2,000,000 0.75%

Close Brothers Fixed Apr-18 2,000,000 0.80%

Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Apr-18 1,000,000 0.75%

Newcastle Building Society Fixed Apr-18 2,000,000 0.78%

Newcastle Building Society Fixed May-18 2,000,000 0.77%

National Counties Building Society Fixed May-18 1,000,000 0.77%

Newcastle Building Society Fixed May-18 2,000,000 0.77%

National Counties Building Society Fixed May-18 1,500,000 0.80%

Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed May-18 1,500,000 0.78%

Principality Building Society Fixed May-18 2,000,000 0.78%

Principality Building Society Fixed Jun-18 3,000,000 0.77%

Nottingham Building Society Fixed Jun-18 1,000,000 0.76%

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Jun-18 2,000,000 0.78%

Newcastle Building Society Fixed Jun-18 1,500,000 0.78%

Principality Building Society Fixed Jul-18 4,000,000 0.77%

Principality Building Society Fixed Jul-18 2,000,000 0.75%

Nottingham Building Society Fixed Jul-18 2,000,000 0.76%

Progressive Building Society Fixed Jul-18 2,500,000 0.78%

Skipton Building Society Fixed Jul-18 2,000,000 0.77%

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Jul-18 2,000,000 0.91%

Newcastle Building Society Fixed Aug-18 2,000,000 0.80%

Newcastle Building Society Fixed Aug-18 2,000,000 0.80%

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Sep-18 2,000,000 0.97%

Nottingham Building Society Fixed Oct-18 1,000,000 0.78%

Progressive Building Society Fixed Oct-18 1,000,000 0.78%

Progressive Building Society Fixed Nov-18 2,000,000 0.81%

Skipton Building Society Fixed Nov-18 2,000,000 0.86%

National Counties Building Society Fixed Dec-18 1,500,000 0.90%

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Dec-18 2,000,000 1.00%

Cumberland Building Society Fixed Jan-19 2,000,000 0.90%

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Feb-19 2,000,000 1.05%

National Counties Building Society Fixed Feb-19 2,000,000 0.95%

Monmouthshire Building Society Fixed Feb-19 2,000,000 0.90%

Nottingham Building Society Fixed Feb-19 2,000,000 0.86%

Royal Bank of Scotland Fixed Feb-19 2,000,000 1.40%

Close Brothers Fixed Mar-19 2,000,000 1.15%

Close Brothers Fixed Mar-19 3,000,000 1.15%

Stockport MBC Fixed Mar-19 2,000,000 0.90%

Close Brothers Fixed Mar-19 2,000,000 1.15%

Close Brothers Fixed Mar-19 1,000,000 1.10%

National Counties Building Society Fixed Mar-19 1,000,000 1.02%

Close Brothers Fixed Apr-19 2,000,000 1.10%

Royal Bank of Scotland Fixed Apr-19 3,000,000 1.31%

Close Brothers Fixed Nov-19 3,000,000 1.10%

Kingston upon Hull City Council Fixed Aug-20 3,500,000 2.70%

Kingston upon Hull City Council Fixed Aug-20 1,500,000 2.70%

Kingston upon Hull City Council Fixed Jan-21 2,000,000 2.50%

Bury MBC Fixed Jul-21 5,000,000 1.50%

Santander Call 9,237,756 0.25%

Royal Bank of Scotland Call 2,329 0.25%

Royal Bank of Scotland Call 95,101 0.25%

Goldman Sachs MMF 2,310,000 Variable

Blackrock MMF 690,000 Variable

L&G Equities Unit trust 11,642,721 Variable

CCLA - property fund Property fund 5,000,000 4.61%

GRAND TOTAL 134,477,907
Page 80



  Appendix E 
 

 
 
Note – these do not reconcile to table 1 figures seen in appendix c and d as these are 
original investment levels whereas the values in table 1 are the fair values of 
investments held. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Vale of White Horse District Council investments as at 31 March 2018

Counterparty Deposit Type Maturity Principal Rate

Date

Wirral Council Fixed Apr-18 3,000,000 0.85%

Cumberland Building Society Fixed May-18 2,000,000 0.56%

Places for People Homes Ltd Fixed Jun-18 2,000,000 1.70%

Places for People Homes Ltd Fixed Jun-18 2,000,000 1.25%

Slough Borough Council Fixed Jun-18 2,000,000 0.60%

Skipton Building Society Fixed Jun-18 5,000,000 0.77%

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Jun-18 2,000,000 0.94%

National Counties Building Society Fixed Jul-18 2,000,000 0.72%

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Sep-18 2,000,000 0.99%

Close Brothers Ltd Fixed Sep-18 2,000,000 0.90%

Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed Oct-18 2,000,000 0.99%

Principality Building Society Fixed Nov-18 3,000,000 0.70%

Saffron Building Society Fixed Nov-18 3,000,000 0.90%

Newcastle Building Society Fixed Dec-18 1,500,000 0.88%

Nottingham Building Society Fixed Jan-19 2,000,000 0.86%

Lloyds Bank Fixed Jan-19 10,000,000 0.85%

Close Brothers Ltd Fixed Nov-19 2,000,000 1.10%

Close Brothers Ltd Fixed Mar-20 2,000,000 1.35%

Hull City Council Fixed Aug-20 2,000,000 2.70%

Hull City Council Fixed Jan-21 2,000,000 2.50%

Goldman Sachs MMF 4,540,000 0.34%

LGIM MMF 3,000,000 0.37%

CCLA Property fund 2,000,000 4.69%

GRAND TOTAL 63,040,000

Page 81



  Appendix F 
 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 

Basis point (BP) 1/100th of 1%, i.e. 0.01% 

Base rate Minimum lending rate of a bank or financial institution in the UK. 

Benchmark A measure against which the investment policy or performance 
of a fund manager can be compared. 

Bill of Exchange A non-interest-bearing written order used primarily in 
international trade that binds one party to pay a fixed sum of 
money to another party at a predetermined future date.  

Callable Deposit A deposit placed with a bank or building society at a set rate for a 
set amount of time.  However, the borrower has the right to repay 
the funds on pre agreed dates, before maturity.  This decision is 
based on how market rates have moved since the deal was 
agreed.  If rates have fallen the likelihood of the deposit being 
repaid rises, as cheaper money can be found by the borrower. 

[Cash] Fund 
Management 

Fund management is the management of an investment portfolio 
of cash on behalf of a private client or an institution, the receipts 
and distribution of dividends and interest, and all other 
administrative work in connection with the portfolio. 

Certificate of 
Deposit (CD) 

Evidence of a deposit with a specified bank or building society 
repayable on a fixed date.  They are negotiable instruments and 
have a secondary market; therefore the holder of a CD is able to 
sell it to a third party before the maturity of the CD. 

Commercial 
Paper 

Short-term obligations with maturities ranging from 2 to 270 days 
issued by banks, corporations and other borrowers.  Such 
instruments are unsecured and usually discounted, although 
some may be interest bearing. 

Corporate Bond Strictly speaking, corporate bonds are those issued by 
companies.  However, the term is used to cover all bonds other 
than those issued by governments in their own currencies and 
includes issues by companies, supranational organisations and 
government agencies. 

Counterparty Another (or the other) party to an agreement or other market 
contract (e.g. lender/borrower/writer of a swap/etc.) 

Credit Default 
Swap (CDS) 

A swap designed to transfer the credit exposure of fixed income 
products between parties.  The buyer of a credit swap receives 
credit protection, whereas the seller of the swap guarantees the 
credit worthiness of the product.  By doing this, the risk of default 
is transferred from the holder of the fixed income security to the 
seller of the swap. 

Page 82



  Appendix F 

Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 
(CFR) 

The amount the council has to borrow to fund its capital 
commitments. 

CIPFA Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. 

CLG [Department for] Communities and Local Government. 

Derivative A contract whose value is based on the performance of an 
underlying financial asset, index or other investment, e.g. an 
option is a derivative because its value changes in relation to the 
performance of an underlying stock. 

Debt 
Management 
Account Deposit 
Facility (DMADF) 

Deposit Account offered by the Debt Management Office, 
guaranteed by the UK government 

European 
Central Bank 
(ECB) 

European Central Bank – sets the central interest rates in the 
EMU area.  The ECB determines the targets itself for its interest 
rate setting policy; this is the keep inflation within a band of 0 to 
2%.  It does not accept that monetary policy is to be used to 
manage fluctuations in unemployment and growth caused by the 
business cycle. 

European and 
Monetary Union 
(EMU) 

The Economic and Monetary Union (EMU) is an umbrella 
term for the group of policies aimed at converging the economies 
of all member states of the European Union. 

Equity A share in a company with limited liability.  It generally enables 
the holder to share in the profitability of the company through 
dividend payments and capital appreciation.  Equity values can 
decrease as well as increase. 

Forward Deal The act of agreeing today to deposit funds with an institution for 
an agreed time limit, on an agreed future date, at an agreed rate. 

Forward 
Deposits 

Same as forward dealing (above). 

Fiscal Policy The government policy on taxation and welfare payments. 

GDP Gross Domestic Product. 

[UK] Gilt Registered UK government securities giving the investor an 
absolute commitment from the government to honour the debt 
that those securities represent. 

LIBID London inter-bank bid rate 

LIBOR London inter-bank offered rate.    

Page 83



  Appendix F 

Money Market 
Fund 

A well rated, highly diversified pooled investment vehicle whose 
assets mainly comprise of short-term instruments.  It is very 
similar to a unit trust, however in a MMF. 

Monetary Policy 
Committee 
(MPC) 

Government body that sets the bank rate (commonly referred to 
as being base rate).  Their primary target is to keep inflation 
within plus or minus 1% of a central target of 2% in two years 
time from the date of the monthly meeting of the committee.  
Their secondary target is to support the government in 
maintaining high and stable levels of growth and employment. 

Other Bond 
Funds 

Pooled funds investing in a wide range of bonds. 

PWLB Public Works Loan Board. 

QE Quantitative Easing. 

Retail Price 
Index 

Measurement of the monthly change in the average level of 
prices at the retail level weighted by the average expenditure 
pattern of the average person. 

Sovereign Issues 
(excl UK Gilts) 

Bonds issued or guaranteed by nation states, but excluding UK 
government bonds. 

Supranational 
Bonds 

Bonds issued by supranational bodies, e.g. European Investment 
Bank.  The bonds – also known as Multilateral Development 
Bank bonds – are generally AAA rated and behave similarly to 
gilts, but pay a higher yield (“spread”) given their relative 
illiquidity when compared with gilts. 

Treasury Bill Treasury bills are short-term debt instruments issued by the UK 
or other governments.  They provide a return to the investor by 
virtue of being issued at a discount to their final redemption 
value. 

 

Page 84



Community Governance and 

Electoral Issues Committee 
 

Report of head of legal and democratic  

Author: Steven Corrigan 

Telephone:  01235 422526 

E-mail: steven.corrigan@southandvale.gov.uk 

To:  Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee 

DATE:  8 October 2018 

 

 

 

Community Governance Review – 

Abingdon-on-Thames, Radley, St Helen 

Without and Sunningwell 

Recommendation: 

1. To amend the boundary between Abingdon-on-Thames, Radley, St Helen 
Without and Sunningwell parishes as shown on the map attached to this 
report. 

2. To include the area up to Oxford Road in the Abingdon Dunmore ward of 
Abingdon-on-Thames Town Council and the area to the east of Oxford Road  
in the Abingdon Peachcroft ward.   

3. To authorise the head of legal and democratic to make a reorganisation of 
community governance order to implement the changes agreed by the 
committee, subject to receiving the necessary consents from the Local 
Government Boundary Commission for England. 

4. To recommend Council to authorise the head of legal and democratic to 
request the Local Government Boundary Commission for England to make 
related alteration orders to change district wards and county divisions to 
reflect the changes made to the parish boundary of Abingdon-on-Thames. 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. To invite the committee to make a final decision in respect of its community 
governance review of the boundary between Abingdon-on-Thames, Radley, St 
Helen Without and Sunningwell parishes.  

Strategic Objectives  

2. Community governance reviews contribute to the council’s strategic objective of 
building thriving communities. 

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 85

Agenda Item 10



Background 

3. At its meeting on 27 November 2017 this committee agreed to undertake a review 
of the boundary between Abingdon-on-Thames, Radley, St Helen Without and 
Sunningwell parishes.  

 
4. In agreeing to undertake the review the committee had regard to the following 

resolution agreed by Council at its meeting in July 2014  
 

  that a significant development proposal that sits adjacent to or straddles a 
parish boundary should automatically trigger a community governance review, 
such a review to take place on the inclusion of a site in a document that forms 
part of the approved Local Plan or when planning permission has been granted 
for the development of the site.   

5. The terms of reference for the review were published in January 2018. 

6. At its meeting on 26 July 2018 this committee considered consultation responses 
and agreed draft proposals for consultation. In doing so the committee agreed to 
extend the area of land under review with the A34 to the north and the Oxford 
Road to the east. 

Consultation 

7. Abingdon-on-Thames Town Council supports the draft proposal. The letter 
attached to this report sets out the town council’s response. 

8. Radley Parish Council has responded as follows:  

“The Council agreed that it would not respond to the previous version of this 
review as there were no residents living in the area of the parish in the North 
Abingdon strategic site.  It has agreed now that it should be led by the residents 
on Lodge Hill”. 

9. Neither St Helen Without Parish Council or Sunningwell Parish Council have 
responded to the latest consultation. Both parish councils have previously 
supported the proposed boundary changes although Sunningwell Parish Council 
sought a deferral of the review until after the 2019 elections to allow for a wider 
review of boundary issues in the area.   

10. No responses were received from members of the public or businesses.  

Final recommendations  

11. The committee agreed to consult on a proposal to amend the boundary between 
Abingdon-on-Thames, Radley, St Helen Without and Sunningwell. 

12. Officers consider that the identities and interests of the residents will be more 
closely aligned with the town of Abingdon than the rural parishes of Radley, St 
Helen Without and Sunningwell.  The developments better reflect the more built up 
nature of Abingdon in contrast to the rural nature of the neighbouring parishes. 
Effective and convenient representation of local residents will also be better served 
by them residing in Abingdon containing all the local facilities that they will use.   

Page 86



13. The proposed boundary offers a well defined boundary with the A34 to the north 
and the Oxford Road to the east. Whilst, in respect of the area to the east of the 
Oxford Road, Dunmore Road provides a well-defined boundary between the 
parishes of Abingdon-on-Thames and Radley officers consider that there are valid 
reasons to transfer this area from Radley parish to Abingdon-on-Thames parish. 
The area is not included in the Radley Neighbourhood Plan Area but is designated 
as the North Abingdon Strategic Site in the Local Plan. The identities and interests 
of the residents are more likely to be aligned with the town of Abingdon than the 
rural parish of Radley.  

14. If the committee agrees to alter the boundary the council will need to seek prior 
consent of the Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) to 
make changes that impact on arrangements put in place by its review of the 
electoral arrangements for Vale of White Horse District Council. The committee is 
invited to authorise the head of legal and democratic to undertake this work. 

15. If the committee agrees to alter the boundary work will commence to make the 
necessary order to bring the change into effect in time for the 2019 parish council 
elections. The committee is invited to authorise the head of legal and democratic to 
undertake this work. 

Electoral arrangements  

16. In undertaking a community governance review the council must have regard to 
electoral arrangements (parish councillor numbers/warding arrangements). 
Officers suggest that the area up to Oxford Road should be included in the 
Abingdon Dunmore ward of Abingdon-on-Thames Town Council and the area to 
the east of Oxford Road should be included in the Abingdon Peachcroft ward.  
Officers do not propose a change in the number of parish councillors at this time.  

Impact on district and county council boundaries  

17. This proposal would affect the Botley & Sunningwell, Kennington & Radley and 
Abingdon Dunmore district wards and the Abingdon and Kennington county 
divisions. If the committee agrees to alter the boundary of the parish the committee 
is invited to recommend Council to agree to request the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) to make a related alteration order to 
make county division district wards coterminous with the parish change and 
authorise the head of legal and democratic to progress the matter subject to the 
council receiving the necessary consent to alter the parish arrangements set out in 
paragraph 14 of this report.   

Financial Implications 

18. Under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, local 
authorities have responsibility for undertaking community governance reviews. The 
process is prescribed and involves officer time and other associated costs, such as 
postage and printing. These costs have been met from within existing budgets as 
will the cost of making the legal order. 

Legal Implications 

19. The Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee has delegated 
authority to deal with all matters relating to parish community governance reviews. 
Matters relating to requests to alter district ward or county division boundaries Page 87



arising from such reviews are not delegated to the committee and require a 
Council decision.  

20. The review was undertaken in accordance with the requirements laid down in the 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and the joint 
guidance on community governance reviews published by the Communities and 
Local Government Department and LGBCE in 2010. 

21. The council will implement any changes by making a reorganisation of community 
governance order.  

Risks 

22. There is a risk that someone could challenge the outcome of the review through 
judicial review. Council officers have mitigated against this by ensuring that the 
council follows the requirements laid down in the 2007 Act and guidance. 

Conclusion 

23. The committee has completed its community governance review of the boundary 
between Abingdon-on-Thames, Radley, St Helen Without and Sunningwell 
parishes. The committee is recommended to confirm its draft proposal and transfer 
the area of land shown on the attached map from Radley, St Helen Without and 
Sunningwell parishes to Abingdon-on-Thames parish subject to LGBCE consent. 
The committee is also invited to recommend Council to authorise the head of legal 
and democratic to request the LGBCE to make related alteration orders to make 
district wards and county divisions coterminous with the parish change. 

Background Papers 

Report to Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee on 27 November 
2017 and committee minutes 
Report to Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee on 26 July 2018 
and committee minutes 

Page 88



Enlarged
Area

Proposed Abingdon parish
boundary change affecting the

parishes of Sunningwell,
Radley & St Helen Without

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 
Ordnance Survey 100019525

Sunningwell

St Helen
Without

Existing Parish Boundary
Proposed Boundary
Change
Area Affected

0 500 1,000
Metres

August 2018


Radley

° 1:25,000

Abingdon-on-Thames


P
age 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Community Governance and 

Electoral Issues Committee 
 

Report of head of legal and democratic  

Author: Steven Corrigan 

Telephone:  01235 422526 

E-mail: steven.corrigan@southandvale.gov.uk 

To:  Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee 

DATE:  8 October 2018 

 

 

 

Community Governance Review – Great 

Coxwell and Great Faringdon 

Recommendation: 

1. To amend the boundary between Great Coxwell parish and Great Faringdon 
parish as shown on the map attached to this report. 

2. To authorise the head of legal and democratic to make a reorganisation of 
community governance order to implement the changes agreed by the 
committee.  

3. That any review of the boundary between Great Faringdon and Eaton 
Hastings parishes is undertaken as part of the scheduled district wide review 
following the May 2019 elections. 

4. To recommend Council to authorise the head of legal and democratic to 
request the Local Government Boundary Commission for England to make a 
related alteration order to change district wards to reflect the change made to 
the parish boundary. 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. To invite the committee to make a final decision in respect of its community 
governance review of the boundary between Great Coxwell parish and Great 
Faringdon parish.  

Strategic Objectives  

2. Community governance reviews contribute to the council’s strategic objective of 
building thriving communities. 

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 93



Background 

3. At its meeting on 23 October 2017 this committee agreed to undertake a review of 
the boundary between Great Coxwell parish and Great Faringdon parish to transfer 
areas of land on which planning permission had been granted.  

 
4. In agreeing to undertake the review the committee had regard to the following 

resolution agreed by Council at its meeting in July 2014  
 

 that a significant development proposal that sits adjacent to or straddles a 
parish boundary should automatically trigger a community governance review, 
such a review to take place on the inclusion of a site in a document that forms 
part of the approved Local Plan or when planning permission has been granted 
for the development of the site.   

5. The terms of reference for the review were published in January 2018. 

6. At its meeting on 21 June 2018 this committee considered consultation responses 
and agreed draft proposals for consultation. In doing so the committee agreed to 
extend the area of land under review to include all the land designated for housing 
in the Local Plan and subject to the most recent planning application P18/V0259/O 
on The Steeds. 

Consultation on draft proposals 

7. Great Coxwell Parish Council is supportive of the committee’s draft proposal. The 
full response is set out in appendix 1 to this report. 

8. Faringdon Town Council has confirmed its support for the proposed boundary 
change. The full response is set out in appendix two to this report.    

9. In supporting the draft proposal Faringdon Town Council has suggested that the 
parish boundary between Great Faringdon parish and Eaton Hastings parish is 
amended to take account of development at Camden Farm. This matter was not 
included in the terms of reference for this review and as such no consultation has 
been undertaken on this matter. Officers propose that any review of this area is 
undertaken as part of the district wide review scheduled to commence in the 
autumn of 2019.  

10. No responses were received from members of the public or businesses.  

Electoral arrangements  

11. In undertaking a community governance review the council must have regard to 
electoral arrangements (parish councillor numbers/warding arrangements). The 
addition of these areas, and development within Great Faringdon parish itself, will 
increase the population by approximately 3,000 over the next five years subject to 
the rate of completion of the developments. No proposals have been submitted to 
introduce warding arrangements at this time and officers are not recommending 
parish warding. The number and distribution of the electors would not make a 
single election of councillors impracticable. Whilst a large rural town it is largely 
centred around a central location and no evidence has been submitted of differing 
communities within the parish having separate identities to justify warding 
arrangements.  Great Faringdon currently has 14 parish councillors which is within 
the typical range for the size of population as evidenced in the joint guidance Page 94



issued by the Department of Communities and Local Government and Local 
Government Boundary Commission for England in 2010. No increase in the 
number of parish councillors is proposed at this time. Both issues could be 
revisited as part of the district wide community governance review scheduled to 
commence in autumn 2019.   

Final recommendations  

12. The committee agreed to consult on a proposal to amend the boundary between 
Great Coxwell parish and Great Faringdon to include all the area of land 
designated for housing in the Local Plan.  

13. Officers consider that the identities and interests of the residents will be more 
closely aligned with the town of Faringdon than the small rural parish of Great 
Coxwell. The existing and proposed properties are remote from Great Coxwell.  
The developments better reflect the more built up nature of Faringdon in contrast 
to the rural nature of Great Coxwell. Effective and convenient representation of 
local residents will also be better served by them residing in Great Faringdon 
parish containing all the local facilities that they will use.  Both Great Coxwell 
Parish Council and Faringdon Town council support the proposed boundary 
change.  

14. If the committee agrees to alter the boundary work will commence to make the 
necessary order to bring the change into effect in time for the 2019 parish council 
elections. The committee is invited to authorise the head of legal and democratic to 
undertake this work. 

Impact on district and county council boundaries  

15. This proposal would affect Faringdon and Watchfield and Shrivenham wards. If the 
committee agrees to alter the boundary of the parish the committee is invited to 
recommend Council to agree to request the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England (LGBCE) to make a related alteration order to make 
district wards coterminous with the parish change and authorise the head of legal 
and democratic to progress the matter.  There is no impact on the county division 
boundaries. 

Financial Implications 

16. Under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, local 
authorities have responsibility for undertaking community governance reviews. The 
process is prescribed and involves officer time and other associated costs, such as 
postage and printing. These costs have been met from within existing budgets as 
will the cost of making the legal order. 

Legal Implications 

17. The Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee has delegated 
authority to deal with all matters relating to parish community governance reviews. 
Matters relating to requests to alter district ward or county division boundaries 
arising from such reviews are not delegated to the committee and require a 
Council decision.  

18. The review was undertaken in accordance with the requirements laid down in the 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 and the joint Page 95



guidance on community governance reviews published by the Communities and 
Local Government Department and LGBCE in 2010. 

19. The council will implement any changes by making a reorganisation of community 
governance order.  

Risks 

20. There is a risk that someone could challenge the outcome of the review through 
judicial review. Council officers have mitigated against this by ensuring that the 
council follows the requirements laid down in the 2007 Act and guidance. 

Conclusion 

21. The committee has completed its community governance review of the boundary 
between Great Coxwell parish and Great Faringdon parish. The committee is 
recommended to confirm its draft proposal and transfer the area of land shown on 
the attached map from Great Coxwell parish to Great Faringdon parish. The 
committee is also invited to recommend Council to authorise the head of legal and 
democratic to request the LGBCE to make related alteration orders to make district 
wards coterminous with the parish change. 

 

Background Papers 

Report to Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee on 23 October 
2017 and committee minutes 
Report to Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee on 21 June 2018 
and committee minutes 

Page 96



Appendix 1 
 
Consultation response from Great Coxwell Parish Council 
 
Thank you for providing the revised proposed boundary map altering the boundary 
between Great Coxwell and Faringdon. On behalf of Great Coxwell Parish Council I 
am writing to say that we accept this proposed change. 
 
As per the resolution of the Community Governance and Electoral issues committee 
meeting on 21st June 2018 the amended new boundary represents a move in a 
southerly direction along the Coxwell Road to encompass the full extent of the land 
allocated to development in part 1 of the Vale local plan in this region rather than only 
that portion associated with currently permitted developments. As discussed at the 
meeting Great Coxwell agrees development allocated in the local plan on the edge of 
Faringdon should be part of Faringdon. Given the schedule of boundary reviews Great 
Coxwell accepts the solution of including all land allocated to development in the plan, 
irrespective of the layout of housing permitted on that land. This should not be seen as 
the council passing judgement on the expected built form of development upon this 
land or their acceptance of yet to be approved development whose need and impact 
on the landscape and setting of Great Coxwell is a separate matter on which the 
boundary position has no bearing.  We note that the new proposal also includes a 
small parcel of land of on the East side of Coxwell Road that is not allocated in the 
plan to development to enable the boundary to run straight across the road. We 
understand its inclusion will provide ease of maintenance of road verges and do not 
object to including it within Faringdon. 

Page 97



Appendix 2 
 

Consultation response from Faringdon Town Council 
 
Community Governance Review – CGR_H – Great Coxwell and Great Faringdon  
Response from Great Faringdon 18/9/18 

Regarding the assessment criteria to be taken into account when making a draft 
proposal for further consultation:  

• natural or man-made boundaries that help to define clearly one community from 
another 

The case for a boundary change are based on paragraphs 15, 83 and 84 of the 
Guidance on Community Governance Reviews (GCGR), March 2010, Department for 
Communities and Local Government Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England. 

Parish boundary between Faringdon and Great Coxwell 

The current boundary between the parishes of Great Coxwell and Great Faringdon 
comprises field hedges along the Steeds and Fernham Fields developments, Fig 1. 

It is less well defined for the proposed development P15/V2649/O to the west of 
Fernham Rd as it mainly follows the southern line of a driveway to houses that are in 
Great Faringdon with some out-buildings and garden/orchard in Great Coxwell. 

The purple line on Fig 2 shows the boundary actually crossing the end of Fernham 
Gate, passing through some houses to the south of Fernham Gate when there is 
actually a hedge boundary between the former tip (now a site with permission for 10 
houses P15/V0154/O known as ‘land adjacent to Fernham Gate’, which is in Great 
Coxwell) and the gardens of the first houses on Fernham Gate, which are in Great 
Faringdon. This boundary develops into a considerable height difference between the 
‘land adjacent to Fernham Gate’ and the houses at the eastern end of Fernham Gate 
as the latter back on to the former quarry wall. 

The boundary then follows the field hedges terminating at the northern edge of the 
A420. 

Because Fernham Road is closed off, the only vehicular access to the exclave of 
Great Coxwell to the east of the Fernham Fields development is through Faringdon; 
there is no pedestrian footpath and the only access on foot wholly within the boundary 
of Great Coxwell is along the northern verge of the A420.  

The southern boundary between Great Coxwell and Little Coxwell is defined by the 
A420. 

The limits of the current Steeds Farm development as shown in Fig 2a may be 
extended farther into Great Coxwell if the application P18/V0259/O by Welbeck to add 
125 houses to the allocated site defined in the Local Plan Part 1, Fig 2b. 
Unfortunately, there is no natural boundary to the south east; however, this leaves an 
open space between the proposed parish boundary of Great Faringdon and the 
dwellings in Great Coxwell in accordance with the Faringdon and Great Coxwell 
Neighbourhood Plans to avoid coalescence. If the boundary did not include the site 
proposed in P18/V0259/O this would leave an anomalous situation of part of a 
contiguous development being in a neighbouring parish as described in paragraph 15 
of the GCGR. If planning permission for this site were to be refused it would only leave 
an empty field, technically in Great Faringdon, but otherwise part of the green space 
between the two settlements. 

Page 98

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/V0259/O
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/V0259/O


The proposed boundary between Great Faringdon and Great Coxwell would be the 
limits of the developments at Fernham Fields and Steeds Farm including the whole of 
the site allocated in the Local Plan Pt 1 2031 at Steeds Farm with the boundary 
between Little Coxwell and Great Faringdon being defined by the A420 up to its 
intersection with the former Great Coxwell boundary. 

Parish boundary between Faringdon and Eaton Hastings 

In August 2018 Faringdon Town Council received notification of planning application 
P18/V1859/FUL for Barn 10, Camden Farm which straddles the Great Faringdon-
Eaton Hastings parish boundaries, Fig. 3 creating a similar anomaly to that described 
above and in paragraph 15 of the GCGR. Camden Farm, which is mainly in 
Faringdon, is no longer a working farm and the farm buildings are being converted to 
dwellings. Barn 10 is the last of these conversions and its footprint is partly in Eaton 
Hastings. Similarly, Church Hill Farm, which is wholly in Eaton Hastings but served by 
the same access road off Radcot Road, is no longer a working farm but is contiguous 
with Camden Farm, Fig. 4. To avoid the situation of part of a building and the new 
occupants of these developments between divided between two parishes the solution 
would be to revise the parish boundary to include the whole of Camden Farm and also 
the contiguous Church Hill Farm. The proposed boundary between Faringdon and 
Eaton Hastings would be the curtilage of Church Hill Farm. 

• housing developments that straddle parish boundaries, thereby resulting in people 
being in different parishes from their neighbours  

The original developers SGR (Fernham Fields) and Welbeck (Steeds Farm) for the 
sites along Coxwell Rd. objected to the boundary of the Faringdon Neighbourhood 
Plan, as defined by the parish boundary of Great Faringdon, because it did not include 
their sites situated in the parish of Great Coxwell, but contiguous with Great 
Faringdon. Fernham Fields has now be renamed Faringdon Fields and the Steeds, 
Fernhill Gardens. 

All of the planning applications for dwellings in the area in question (P13/V0139/O 
(Fernham Fields, 200), P13/V1102/O (Steeds, 200), P15/V2649/O (Fernham Rd., 25), 
P15/0154/O (Fernham Gate, 10), P17/V1242/O (Fernham Rd., 5, refused), have 
stated the location of their sites as being in Faringdon with no reference to Great 
Coxwell where in fact they are located. Planning application, P18/V1362/O, on land 
east of Fernham Rd. was submitted by Taylor Wimpey in 2018 for 67 houses, four of 
which would have been in Great Coxwell, with the only access to the site being via 
Great Coxwell; this application has been rejected. So far, planning permission for 435 
dwellings has been granted all of which are in Great Coxwell although marketed as 
being Faringdon with a potential 125 dwelling development P18/V0259/O (South of 
Steeds, 125) pending a decision. 

The Officer’s report to the VoWHDC Planning Committee, 27 November 2013 on 
planning application P13/V0139/O, Fernham Fields, paragraphs 6.10 to 6.13 stated: 

6.10 The Coalescence of Faringdon and Great Coxwell 
One of the key local objections to this proposal has been that this development 
will result in the coalescence of Faringdon with the village of Great Coxwell, 
particularly as the application site sits within the boundaries of Great Coxwell 
parish. Officers accept that it is entirely proper to resist proposals that would 
allow the urban sprawl of Faringdon into the countryside or significantly reduce 
the separation between these two settlements, which are of very different sizes 
and characters. However, officers do not consider this particular proposal would 
cause an undue amount of coalescence between the two settlements.  

6.11 The scheme has been designed to appear and function as an urban extension to 
Faringdon. As outlined in Section 1, at the closest point, the site is over 1 Page 99

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/V1859/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/V0259/O


kilometre from the Great Coxwell conservation area, which delineates the historic 
core of the village. It is also 0.8 kilometres from the eastern edge of the village 
itself. Thus, there will remain a good distance between the two settlements.  

6.12 Crucially, the site will be physically contained by Coxwell Road and the A420 
from the village of Great Coxwell. These roads in particular act as a strong barrier 
that separates the two settlements. Furthermore, the existing and future 
landscaping will visually contain the site in a manner that ensures it will appear 
as part of Faringdon, not part of Great Coxwell. Whilst views into Great Coxwell 
from the site will be possible, and the new development will be seen from Great 
Coxwell, against the backdrop of the rest of Faringdon, the two settlements will 
remain visually entirely separate and distinct.  

6.13 The Parameter Plan also demonstrates how the proposal is designed as an 
extension to Faringdon. The pedestrian links are designed to allow easy access 
to Faringdon town centre. No footpaths are proposed that would enable direct 
access to Great Coxwell. Officers are satisfied that any resident of this 
development would consider themselves to be living in Faringdon, not Great 
Coxwell. Officers’ assessment of this scheme leads from this basis. 

The Officer’s report to the VoWHDC Planning Committee, 9th December 2015 on 
planning application P15/V1934/O, Steeds, paragraph 6.1 stated: 

6.11 The NPPF requires the need to travel to be minimised and the use of sustainable 
transport modes to be maximised (paragraph 34). The site is located immediately 
adjacent to the existing built up area of one of the five main settlements in the 
District with a good range of services and facilities. Therefore, although located 
within jurisdiction of Great Coxwell Parish, the site would form an extension of the 
town in terms of location. 

The Officer’s report to the VoWHDC Planning Committee, 17th August 2016 on 
planning application P15/V2649/O, Fernham Rd., paragraph 6.7 stated: 

6.7 Core Policy 20 of the emerging local plan 2031 provides the spatial strategy for 
the Western Vale Sub-Area. The plan makes it clear that Faringdon is a strategic 
growth area. To calculate the impact of this development, it has been assumed to 
be part of Faringdon, despite falling within Great Coxwell parish boundary. It is 
noted that the council has either permitted or resolved to permit a number of 
large housing developments in Faringdon, which, if all implemented, would 
increase the population of Faringdon by approximately 20%. Based on the SHMA 
average household size of 2.52 for 2011, this development will increase the 
population of Faringdon by approximately 63 people.  

The Officer’s report to the VoWHDC Planning Committee, 10th March 2015 on 
planning application P15/0154/O (Land adjacent to Fernham Gate), paragraph 6.11 
stated: 

6.11 The NPPF requires the need to travel to be minimised and the use of sustainable 
transport modes to be maximised (paragraph 34). In terms of facilities, Faringdon 
is a large town which is well served in terms of services and public transport 
links. Therefore, the emerging local plan identifies Faringdon as a sustainable 
location for further development.  

Other comments imply the suitability of Faringdon as place for development. 

Hence, although these developments are located in the parish of Great Coxwell, there 
is an implicit assumption that they are only viable because of their proximity to 
Faringdon. They have been regarded by Planning Officers as extensions to Faringdon 
being, in all cases, contiguous with the current Great Faringdon parish boundary. They 

Page 100



are all distinctly separate from Great Coxwell and in the case of the developments on 
Fernham Road with road access only accessible via Faringdon. 

Potentially (i.e. including P18/V0259/O) some 560 new dwellings will be built adjacent 
to Faringdon with, based on a SHMA average household size of 2.52 for 2011, a 
predicted 1,411 residents. These new residents would to all sense and purpose to be 
living in Faringdon and using the services provided by Faringdon Town Council 
although not paying any Council Tax to Faringdon Town Council. 

The development of Camden Farm/Church Hill Farm is an overlooked circumstance 
where the two adjacent farms were in separate parishes; however, the new housing 
development straddles the parish boundary, thereby resulting in people being in 
different parishes from their neighbours. Their relative isolation could result in some 
logistical problems regarding bin collection, council tax, etc. because they are in 
different parishes and wards. 

• effective and convenient representation of local residents at parish level  

Faringdon has 14 Town Councillors. The current population of Great Faringdon is 
between 8,125 and 8,205. There are 1,219 houses with planning permission granted 
or pending including the 560 planned for Great Coxwell, which would take the 
population of Great Faringdon to about 11,400. See Appendix 1.  

The population of these new developments currently situated in Great Coxwell (1,411) 
would be much greater than that of Great Coxwell itself (~300) although 
geographically separated from it. This would not allow for effective and convenient 
representation on matters concerning these developments as the residents would 
probably consider that they were living in Faringdon, but would have no representation 
in Faringdon. Equally this could have a distorting effect on representation in Great 
Coxwell, see below. 

The residents of Church Hill and Camden Farms would have different representation; 
either Faringdon Town Council or Eaton Hastings Parish Meeting. 

• the wards of Vale of White Horse District Council for the purposes of district council 
elections 

Faringdon ward has two District Councillors. Great Coxwell and Eaton Hastings are 
part of the Shrivenham and Watchfield ward which also has two District Councillors. 

• the divisions of Oxfordshire County Council for the purposes of county council 
elections  

Faringdon has one County Councillor for a division that includes Faringdon Great 
Coxwell and Eaton Hastings, so representation is not affected. 

• views expressed in relation to any changes, particularly from those people directly 
affected  

At present only one of the developments in Great Coxwell (Fernham Fields now 
renamed Faringdon Fields) has any occupants. There is a concern that the Band D 
Council Tax for Faringdon for 2018/19 will be £133.52 whereas that for Great Coxwell 
will be £60; hence, residents would see an increase in Council Tax. This would be 
more marked for residents of Eaton Hastings which has a very low precept. However, 
the impact on Faringdon of the Great Coxwell developments would be significant with 
the loss of at least £75,000 in Council Tax (many of these houses would be higher 
rated so the loss would be greater) from residents who, to all intents and purposes, 
would be living in Faringdon. The impact of Eaton Hastings residents would be small 
in comparison. 

• the extent to which proposals reflect the identities and interests of the affected 
community  Page 101

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/V0259/O


Changing the Great Coxwell/Great Faringdon parish boundary would rectify an 
anomaly whereby residents living on extensions of Faringdon that are 
indistinguishable from the built-up area would identify with Faringdon as the nearest 
sustainable entity. Churchill Farm and Camden Farm are remote from the town and 
would be less affected. 

• the size and population of the local community 

Great Faringdon’s current population and housing stock are between 8,125-8,205 and 
3,438 (2018/19 tax base), respectively. Great Coxwell’s population is about 300 with 
about 132 houses. The expected 560 houses will add ~1,411 people (@2.52 per 
dwelling). This is an increase in population of between 16% and 17% for Faringdon or 
470% for Great Coxwell, a disproportionate impact. 

Conclusion 

The parish boundary between Great Faringdon and Great Coxwell should be 
amended to include the sites isolated from Great Coxwell by the A420 and the whole 
of the allocated sites in the Local Plan Part 2031 that are currently located in Great 
Coxwell. 

The boundary between Great Faringdon and Eaton Hastings at Camden Farm and 
Churchill Farm should be amended to include the curtilage of Churchill Farm to avoid 
residents from these contiguous developments being in different parishes. 

 

 

 

Fig 
1 Showing the current built up limit of Faringdon. 

 

Page 102



Fig 
Fig. 2a Showing previous boundary change recommendation. 

 

Fig. 2b Showing revised boundary to include all of the allocated site for Steeds Farm. 

Fernhill Gardens 
(Steeds) 200 

Faringdon Fields 
(Fernham Fields) 
200 

Fernham Rd. 
25 

Fernham Gate 
10 

Fernhill 
Gardens 
(Steeds) 
200 

P18/V0259/

O (Steeds) 
125 

Page 103

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/V0259/O
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/V0259/O


 

Fig. 3 Showing the parish boundary (purple) between Eaton Hastings and Great 
Faringdon dividing Church Hill and Camden Farms. 

 

Fig. 4 Showing the contiguous Camden and Church Hill Farms. 

Page 104



 

Appendix 1 population estimates 
    Permissions granted, in pipeline, or 

not yet fully occupied dwellings  pop@2.52 
OCC 
S106 OCC estimates 

Tennis Club Southampton St under 
construction 11 28   P13/V0033/FUL 
Tetronics 5 Lechlade Rd; not started 14 35   P13/V2301/O 

Bloor Homes2 Sandshill outline 380+60 1,048 1,078 
P17/V1082/O inc 60 bed 
extra care home 

Fernham Fields 200 504 510 P13/V0139/O 
Fernham Gate outline permission + 
60  10 25   P15/V0154/O 
Park Rd 4&20 9 23   P15/V2113/O 
Steeds 200 504 548 P15/V1934/O 
Highworth Rd 190 479   P16/V0775/O 
Fernham Rd 25 63   P15/V2649/O 
Infill granted/occupied as balance 
since 2011 estimate 46 116   

 Steeds Farm South (Welbeck) 
pending 125 315 305 P18/2059/O 
Builders Ede Park Rd pending 9 23   P17/V2407/FUL 

Total 839 3,162 3,232 
 Population estimate at end of 2016   8,205   

 Total   11,367 11,437 
 

     Small sites granted  to date not 
on tax base 

    Winslow House 1 P17/V3396/FUL 

  Landview, Canada Lane 1 P13/V2589/O 
  Old Barn Lechlade Rd 1 P13/V1261/FUL 

  17C & 17E London Street 2 P13/V2086/FUL 
  15 Coxwell St 1 P14/V0715/FUL 

  40 Westland Rd 1 P13/V2597/FU 
  Rogers Concrete 2 P13/V2698/FUL 
  9/11 Coxwell Rd 3 P13/V088/ 
  Pidnell Farm 1 P13/V0162/LB  
  21 Market Place 1 P14/V1060/FUL 
  1-3 Rose Terrace 3 P14/V1842/FUL 
  Canada Lane 2 P16/V0514/FUL 

  15a/15b Coxwell Rd 2 P15/V0909/O P15/V1262/O 
10 Market Place 2 P15/V2473/FUL 

  Camden Farm 1 P18/V1859/FUL 

  Foundry Barn Marlborough St 1 P18/V1807/N2A 

  Ferndale School 10 P18/V1512/DIS 8 flats + 2 houses 
20 Market Place 1 P18/V0937/FUL 

  Willes Close 1 P17/V3307/FUL 

  Ferndale St 2 P17/V2294/O 

  Camden Farm 3 P17/V0867/FUL 

  19 Coxwell Rd 1 P16/V3225/O 

  47 Gravel Walk 1 P16/V1630/HH 

  2 Cornmarket 1 P16/V1414/FUL 

  57 Westland Rd 1 P16/V1027/FUL 

  
 

46 
   Page 105

http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P17/V2407/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P17/V3396/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P13/V1261/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P14/V0715/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P16/V0514/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P15/V2473/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/V1859/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/V1807/N2A
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/V1512/DIS
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P18/V0937/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P17/V3307/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P17/V2294/O
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P17/V0867/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P16/V3225/O
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P16/V1630/HH
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P16/V1414/FUL
http://www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/java/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails&REF=P16/V1027/FUL


 

 

Page 106



Enlarged
Area

Proposed boundary change
between Faringdon and

Great Coxwell

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 
Ordnance Survey 100019525

Faringdon

Little Coxwell

Great Coxwell

 Existing Barish Boundary
Proposed Boundary
Change
Area Affected

° 1:10,000

0 125 250 375
Metres

August 2018

P
age 107



 

  
 

Council report  

 
Report of the returning officer 

Author: Steven Corrigan 

Telephone: 01235 422526 

E-mail: steven.corrigan@southandvale.gov.uk  

To: Council 

DATE: 10 October 2018 

Elections - scales of fees, charges  

Recommendations 

Council is asked to  

1. agree the scales of fees for district and parish council elections, parish polls and 
neighbourhood planning referendums  as set out in the Appendix to this report; 

2. agree to continue to charge parish and town councils for running elections on their 
behalf. 
 

 

Purpose of Report 

1. This report recommends the adoption of scales of fees payable to the returning 
officer (RO) in connection with district and parish council elections, parish polls and 
neighbourhood planning referendums  and that council continues to charge parish 
and town councils for running elections on their behalf.  

Strategic Objectives  

2. The setting of transparent fees contributes to the corporate objective of effective 
management of resources. 

Background 

3. The Representation of the People Act 1983 (the 1983 Act), Section 36 (4) requires 
the council to cover all expenditure incurred by the returning officer in the holding of 
an election for all or any seats on it.  The council may set scales of expenditure 
which the returning officer (RO) must not exceed.  The fees for conducting 
Parliamentary, and European Parliamentary and Police and Crime Commissioner 
elections are regulated by the Returning Officers’ Fees and Charges Orders made 
by the Government.   

Scale of fees 

4. At its meeting on 11 December 2014 Council agreed scales of fees for elections 
and parish polls in accordance with provisions in the Representation of the People 

CONFIDENTIAL 

Page 108

Agenda Item 11



 

  
 

Act 1983 and the Local Government Act 1972.  Council now needs to approve a 
scale of fees and charges for 2019/20. In accordance with the report to Council in 
December 2014 officers have reviewed the fees and charges structure with 
colleagues from within Oxfordshire and examined best practise from around the 
country with the aim of further simplifying the process. The fees and structure set 
out in the appendix to this report reflect those paid across Oxfordshire. The fees 
structure has also been simplified with fees combined into a smaller number of 
headings and those for neighbourhood plan referendums and parish polls 
incorporated into the main fee structure. 

5. A number of fees for the returning officer are shown.  The RO uses these fees to 
pay both herself and key staff. After the 2019 elections, the returning officer will 
report actual expenditure to the Community Governance and Electoral Issues 
Committee. This will set out the cost of the elections and detail the total amount of 
fees paid to the RO and each of her deputies. 

6. If Council does not adopt a scale, then the council will be obliged to pay the 
returning officer’s expenses without setting what it considers a reasonable scale of 
expenses applicable to district, town and parish elections. In addition, the scale 
provides some indication to parish and town councils of the likely costs they will be 
liable to incur if there are contested elections in their area. 

Charging parish and town councils for the costs of holding elections 

7. Any expenditure incurred in the election of a parish councillor is rechargeable only 
on the parish for which the election was held. The 1983 Act makes provision for 
district councils to re-charge the relevant parish council for running elections on 
their behalf.   Previously the council has levied such a charge. The RO 
recommends that a charge is levied and that where there is a combined district and 
parish election, this should be on the basis of equal apportionment of shared costs. 

Financial Implications 

8. If the council discontinues its current practice of recharging parish and town 
councils for the costs of running their elections, this will create a significant 
additional budget pressure.  The council would have to meet any costs that it could 
not contain within the overall budget from the contingency fund. 

 Legal Implications 

9. There is a requirement for the council to agree the scales of fees for district and 
parish council elections, referendums and parish polls and to make a decision on 
recharging parish councils for the running elections on their behalf. 

Other implications 

11. None. 

Conclusion 

12. This report asks council to agree scales of fees for district and parish council 
elections, referendums and parish polls  and to agree to charge parish councils for 
running their elections.    

Background Papers 

Representation of the People Act 1983 
Existing Scales of Expenditure for Elections. 

Page 109



APPENDIX  

 
 

DISTRICT AND PARISH COUNCIL ELECTIONS / BY-ELECTIONS 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING REFERENDUMS 

AND PARISH POLLS 
 
PART 1 – Returning Officer’s/Counting Officer’s Fees 
 
Fee for conducting the election /by-election/ referendum, parish poll giving the 
prescribed notices, preparing and supplying nomination papers, deciding as to the 
validity of nominations, appointing and remunerating deputy returning officers / deputy 
counting officers, arranging for and conducting the poll, issuing poll cards, issuing and 
receiving postal ballot papers, counting the votes, declaring the result and generally 
performing all the duties which a returning officer / counting officer is required to 
perform under the Representation of the People Acts and the Rules and Regulations 
made thereunder, and including all disbursements and expenses other than those for 
which special provision has been herein made, as follows: 
 
In no case shall a charge exceed the sum actually and necessarily paid or payable by 
the returning officer/counting officer.  Subject to this, the maximum charges are set out 
in the scale. 
 

District Council election (contested election) 

for each contested ward 
£200 

District Council Election (uncontested election) 

for each uncontested ward £100 

Parish Council election (contested election) 

for each contested parish / parish ward 
£200 

Parish Council election (uncontested election) 

for each uncontested parish / parish ward 
£100 

Neighbourhood Planning Referendum 
£170 

Polls consequent upon parish meeting  

For every poll consequent on a parish meeting where 
such poll is not taken as to the elections of parish 
councillors, to cover all the services of the returning 
officer and, if the poll is taken on more than one 
question on the same day in any parish, only one fee 
to be charged:  

 

£70 

  

  

Page 110



Part 2 – Disbursements 

1. Presiding officer, a fee of 
 or where a poll is combined with a parish 

council poll, a fee of 

 
 
 
 
  

£200.00 
 
£225.00 

2. Poll clerk, a fee of 
or where a poll is combined with a parish 
council poll, a fee of 

 
 

£145.00 
 
£155.00 

(Presiding officers and poll clerks may not include any additional expenses i.e. 

electricity charges, without the prior written express agreement of the (deputy) 

returning officer.) 

3. An additional poll clerk may be employed full-time or part-time at a polling 
station at the discretion of the returning officer or her duly appointed deputy 
returning officer and will be paid the fee payable under item 2 of this scale, or an 
appropriate proportionate amount as applicable. 

4. For the provision of training for polling station 
staff, including a payment for staff undertaking the 
training.  This may be used in respect of any 
payment made for the collection of the ballot box 
ahead of an election by staff.  To be distributed by 
the returning officer at their discretion.  A fee of 

 
 
 
 
 
£50.00 per presiding officer 
and poll clerk 
 

5. Counting/Verification Supervisor: 
A fee of 
(a) for the first hour 
(b) for each half hour thereafter or part thereof 
 
In respect of evening/overnight working 
(c) for the first hour 
(d) for each half hour thereafter or part thereof 

 
 
£16.00 
£8.00 
 
 
£18.00 
£9.00 

6. Count venue manager £500 at returning officer’s 
discretion 

Page 111



7. Counting/Verification Assistant: 
A fee of 
(a) for the first hour 
(b) for each half hour thereafter or part thereof 
 
In respect of evening/overnight working 
(c) for the first hour 
(d) for each half hour thereafter or part thereof 

 
 
£12.00 
£6.00 
 
 
£14.00 
£7.00 

8. For the employment of persons for clerical and all 
other assistance other than where separate fees 
are provided.  For each electoral area 

 
 
£100 

9. Preparation and issue of poll cards and postal 
vote cards, for supervising the preparation and 
issue of official poll and postal vote cards.  For 
each electoral area 

 
 
 
£20.00 

10. To an officer designated by the returning officer or 
her duly appointed deputy, for inspection and 
supervision of polling stations.  A fee of 

 
 
£200.00 

11. For preparation of ballot boxes.  For each polling 
station, a fee of 

 
£5.00 

11.  Supervisor for the issue and receipt of postal          
       ballot papers.  A fee of: 

(a) for the first hour 
(b) for each half hour thereafter or part thereof 

 
 
£16.00 
£8.00 

12.   For the employment of persons in connection 
with the issue and receipt of postal ballot 
papers, the total sum of which to be distributed 
by the returning officer at her discretion.  A fee 
of 

 
 
 
 
£0.70 per postal vote 

20. Hire of rooms in connection with the issue and 
receipt of postal ballot papers 

Actual and necessary 
costs 

21. For travelling expenses of the returning officer, 
deputy returning officer, assistants, presiding 
officers, poll clerks and counting assistants, and 
for posting notices of election and notices of 
poll. 
Per mile 
 
Travel expenses will not be paid for any 
journey made to the place of election work 
or training venue. However, presiding 
officers only will be able to claim 
reimbursement of mileage for the following 
journeys:  

 from home to the relevant venue to 
collect the ballot box and return 
journey home; 

 from the polling station to the count 
venue and return journey home only.  

Polling station inspectors may claim in 
accordance with their duties. Expense claim 
forms and receipts will be required. 

 
 
 
 
 
£0.45 

Page 112



22. Hire of rooms for the preparation of ballot boxes  Actual and necessary cost 

23. For preparing a room for the purpose of a poll, 
and of a count, and cleaning and reinstating the 
room (per station) 

 

(a) in the case of a school maintained by a local  
        authority, which may be used free of hire  
        charge, the caretaker’s fee is to be paid in  
        accordance with the allowances in force in  
        the National Joint Council for Local  
        Government Services National Agreement  
        on Pay and Conditions of Service; or any  
        local agreement;  
and 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Actual and necessary cost 

 
(b) in any other building Actual and necessary cost 

24. Heating and lighting (per polling station)  Actual and necessary cost 

25. Conveyance of ballot boxes and voting screens Actual and necessary cost 

26. Compensation payable in consequence of the 
cancellation of functions in order to make 
suitable premises available for use as polling 
stations or places of count 

 
 

 
Actual and necessary cost 

27.   For provision of ballot boxes and voting screens, 
for printing notices, ballot papers and other 
forms and documents required, including the 
printing costs, computer charges and all 
associated costs of producing the official poll 
and postal vote cards, and for stationery, 
advertising, postage, telephone calls, bank 
charges and miscellaneous expenses 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Actual and necessary cost 

 
NOTE: At a combined election of district or parish councillors, wherever appropriate 
the costs are to be shared on an equal basis between the relevant authorities, 
unless a particular expense can actually be allocated to a specific authority. 
 
 

 General Clerical Fees 
 
A. Principles 
The core principles for payments to electoral services staff during an 
election/referendum period are that: 

 Staff are recognised for the additional work they undertake, which 
includes working in the evening, on Saturdays, Sundays and bank 
holidays 

 The payments are accountable and transparent 

 The payments are straightforward to administer and understand 

 Staff will know in advance the basis of their payments and what they will 
be paid for 

 The payments are fair 
 

B. Policy 

 All authorised hours worked over and above contracted hours will be paid 
at the standard council rates for the individual’s position from the notice of 

 

Page 113



election/referendum through to one week following polling day. 

 Named electoral staff who work on polling day in the office will receive a 
single fixed payment equivalent to that of a presiding officer. 

 
   

 NOTES:  

 1. “Electoral area” means any district, ward or parish council for which a separate 
election is held.  

 2. The fees prescribed for presiding officers and poll clerks are for the hours of poll 
from 7am to 10pm. In the event of an election or poll for a non-principal area 
where the hours of poll are fewer in number, the fees payable to presiding 
officers and poll clerks shall be at the discretion of the returning officer.  

 3.  With regard to other electoral activities and events where there is not a fees and 
charges order set by Government (this includes but is not limited to business 
and residential neighbourhood planning referendums, council tax referendums 
and local polls) this schedule shall be used as the basis for calculating the fees 
and charges.  

   

 

 
 
 

Page 114


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	7 Oxfordshire Joint Spatial Plan – Scoping Document
	Appendix 1, 28/09/2018 Cabinet
	Appendix 2, 28/09/2018 Cabinet
	Appendix 3, 28/09/2018 Cabinet
	Appendix 4, 28/09/2018 Cabinet
	2018-09-24 Addendum Oxfordshire Joint Spatial Plan v 2

	8 Making the Radley Neighbourhood Development Plan
	9 Treasury management outturn 2017/18
	Appendix A - Interest rate forecasts 2017-2018, 05/10/2018 Cabinet
	Appendix B - Prudential Limits 2017-2018, 05/10/2018 Cabinet
	Appendix C -  South Treasury activities 2017-2018, 05/10/2018 Cabinet
	Appendix D -  Vale Treasury activities 2017-2018, 05/10/2018 Cabinet
	Appendix E - Treasury Investments as at 31 March 2018, 05/10/2018 Cabinet
	Appendix F - Glossary of terms, 05/10/2018 Cabinet

	10 Community Governance Review
	Abingdon CGR map, 08/10/2018 Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee
	Abingdon Town Council response, 08/10/2018 Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee
	Committee report_2018 October_Great Coxwell and Great Faringdon, 08/10/2018 Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee
	CGR final map_2018-aug update, 08/10/2018 Community Governance and Electoral Issues Committee

	11 Election fees and charges 2019
	Fees and charges appendix




